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BooNE COUNTY AUDITOR
JUNE E. PITCHFORD

BooNe County GOVERNMENT CENTER
801 East Walnut, Room 205 ¢ Columbia, MO 65201-4890 e (573) 886-4275 OFFICE e (573) 886-4280 FAX

July 15, 2004

Honorable County Commissioners and Citizens of
Boone County, Missouri:

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of Boone County, Missouri for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2003, is hereby submitted.

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) is in conformance with the standards for
financial reporting of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and the Government
Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA). This report represents a
dramatic change in governmental reporting. The format and the purpose of these changes are
addressed in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A).

Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data, and the completeness and fairness of the presentation,
including all disclosures, rests with the County. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed
data are accurate in all material respects and are reported in a manner designed to present fairly the
financial position and results of operation. All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an
understanding of the County’s financial activities have been included.

The County’s basic financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent certified
public accounting firm. The goal of the independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that
the basic financial statements of the County for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, are free of
material misstatement. The independent auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a
reasonable basis for rendering an unqualified opinion that the County’s basic financial statements for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, are fairly presented in conformity with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP). The independent auditors’ report is presented as the first component
of the financial section of this report.

Reporting Entity

The County is a political subdivision of the State of Missouri, providing a broad range of public
services required by state law. For financial reporting purposes, the reporting entity is comprised of

the County (the primary government) including all funds, agencies, and departments that make up its
legal entity as well as any legally separate entities that meet criteria established by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board for inclusion in the reporting entity. Such entities are referred to as
component units and they include legally separate entities over whom the County is able to impose its
will or entities capable of imposing a financial benefit or burden on the County. Component units also

include organizations that are financially dependent on the County.
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The County has determined that the reporting entity should include one discretely presented
component unit, the Boone Hospital Board of Trustees. This entity is financially dependent on the
County in that all bond issues for hospital operations must be approved by the County Commission.

Government Structure

Boone County was organized in 1821 under applicable state statutes and continues under the same
form of government to this day. Limited-scope policymaking and legislative authority is granted by
the state statutes and vested in the County Commission, which consists of a Presiding Commissioner
and two Associate Commissioners, each of whom serves full time. As the governing body, the
County Commission is responsible for passing ordinances (to the extent permitted by statute), adopting
the annual budget, managing county property, appointing committées, and hiring and supervising
departmental directors. The Presiding Commissioner is elected at large and the two Associate
Commissioners are each elected from within their respective district. Each serves a four-year term.

Boone County’s statutory elective form of government differs significantly from a charter form of
government or a municipal city-manager form of government. Independent elected officials are
directly accountable to the people of the County and individually responsible for discharging the
statutory functions of their office in accordance with state law.  The County Commission has no
authority to impose its will on other elected officials, except through its exclusive control of county
property and the adoption of the annual budget.

CAFR Format
There are three main sections to a CAFR as described below.

The Introductory Section includes this transmittal letter, the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence
in Financial Reporting, a list of elected officials and the County’s organizational chart.

The Financial Section includes the independent auditors’ report, Management’s Discussion and
Analysis (MD&A), the basic financial statements for the County, required supplementary information,
and other supplementary information.

The Statistical Section includes selected financial and demographic information, generally presented
on a multi-year basis.

Accounting System, Internal Controls, and Budgetary Controls

The County uses a computerized accounting and budgetary system. The system provides (1)
integrated general and subsidiary accounting of all County funds; (2) appropriation/encumbrance
accounting and control; and (3) the ability to summarize and report revenue and expenditure data in a
variety of ways for budgetary control, financial reporting, and managerial purposes.

In developing and evaluating the County’s accounting system and the related policies and procedures,
consideration was given to the adequacy of internal accounting controls. Internal accounting controls
are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding
¢ The safeguarding of assets against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and
e The reliability of financial records for preparing financial statements and maintaining
accountability for assets.
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The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not exceed the
benefits likely to be derived from it and that the evaluation of assets and benefits requires estimates
and judgments by management. All internal control evaluations occur within this framework and we
believe that the County’s internal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets and provide
reasonable assurance of proper recording of financial transactions.

The County adopts an annual budget for all of its governmental funds and internal service funds.
Project-length budgets are prepared and approved for capital projects and neighborhood improvement
district projects; however, these are used as management tools and are not legally adopted.
Unexpended and unencumbered appropriations for these budgets are re-appropriated as necessary in
the following budget year.

The County Commission approves the annual budget at the fund level; however, the appropriations at
the departmental object (or class) level are closely monitored throughout the year for fluctuations and
any resulting revisions that may be needed. The County also maintains an encumbrance accounting
system as one technique of accomplishing budgetary control. Unencumbered appropriations lapse at
fiscal year-end, while open encumbrances are reported as reservations of fund balance at each year-
end.

The County’s fiscal year is the calendar year and the annual budgetary process is strictly governed by
the timetable outlined in state statutes. Budgetary requests are due to the County Auditor by
September 1% with a proposed comprehensive budget due from the County Auditor to the County
Commission by November 15", The County Commission may alter, modify, or change the proposed
budget in any manner, except for the Court’s budgets which may not be altered without the Court’s
consent or pursuant to mediation by the Judicial Finance Review Commission. The County
Commission must comply with public notice and public hearing requirements and adopt the budget on
or before January 10™. (In the first year of the Presiding Commissioner’s term of office, this deadline
is extended to January 31*.) In the event the County Commission does not adopt the budget, the
preceding year’s budget remains effective.

Factors Affecting Financial Condition

The information presented in the CAFR is perhaps bests understood when it is considered from the
broader perspective of the specific environment within which the County operates.

Local economy. Boone County is situated in Central Missouri at the cross-roads of Interstate 70 and
US Highway 63. It is a fast-growing county known for its highly educated work force, low cost of
living, award-winning schools, and unique blend of rural and urban lifestyles. The County contains
685 square miles and includes six cities (Ashland, Centralia, Columbia, Hallsville, Rocheport, and
Sturgeon) and three towns (Harrisburg, Hartsburg, and McBaine). Over the past ten years, the
County’s annual population growth rate has consistently run at a level twice that of the state. Of the
County’s current population of 141,122, 68 percent (95,963) reside in incorporated areas while 32
percent (45,159) reside in unincorporated areas.

The local economy reflects a balanced mix of retail, education, insurance, light manufacturing,
construction, and finance. The County’s largest city and county seat, Columbia, serves as a regional
shopping area for central Missouri. The County is also home to the flagship campus of the University
of Missouri, Columbia College, and Stephens College. In addition, the County serves as a regional
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medical center with 6 hospitals. The largest employers in the County include the University of
Missouri, University Hospital and Clinics, Columbia Public Schools, Boone Hospital, insurance
institutions, several light manufacturers, and the City of Columbia. The County’s varied economic
base contributes to economic and employment stability. The County’s low unemployment rate of 2.3%
is well below that of the state (5.6%) or the nation (6%).

Cash management policies and practices. The elected County Treasurer is responsible for the cash
management and treasury functions of the County. Under the direction of the County Treasurer, the
County manages a pooled funds investment program for all unrestricted cash. By investing available
fund balances as part of the pooled cash account, the County achieves favorable interest rates. Cash
temporarily idle during the year was invested in collateralized securities and investments.  The
average annual yield for fiscal year 2003 was 1.35 percent. This compares to an average yield of 2.38
percent for fiscal year 2002. The total carrying value of cash, cash equivalents, and investments at
December 31, 2003 was $113,748,617. Fiscal year 2003 investment income for all governmental
funds combined totaled $190,099. This compares to $416,156 for fiscal year 2002.

The County renewed its two-year depository contract with First National Bank for one additional two-
year term beginning July 1, 2003.  Under this contract, the County receives an annual interest rate
equal to 12 basis points above the most recent auction rate for 90-day Treasury bills.

County Commission Order and state statutes provide the framework for the County’s investment
policies. The County's broad investment objective is to minimize credit and market risks while
maintaining a competitive yield on its portfolio. All collateral on deposits was held either by the
County or its agent in the County’s name, or held by a financial institution's trust department in the
County's name. Of the investments held by the County at December 31, 2003, 100 percent are
classified in the category of lowest custodial credit risk as defined by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board.

Risk management. The County maintains broad form insurance coverage for property/casualty,
general liability, workers compensation, inland marine, EDP, public officials' errors and omissions,
law enforcement errors and omissions, and boiler and machinery. The County is a member of the
Mid-America Regional Council Insurance Trust (MARCIT) and shares a full-time risk manager
through that organization. MARCIT’s risk management program was one of the three programs
awarded a special award by PRIMA, a national association of Public Risk Managers.

The County maintains two Internal Service Funds to account for its self-insured coverage of County
employees and their dependents for health and dental benefits. The County limits its risk through the
establishment of maximum coverage amounts for claims and through the purchase of commercial
reinsurance for claims in excess of the established health claim maximum. The Boone County Health
Trust Committee, comprised of elected officials, county employees, and citizen advisors, is responsible
for the risk management of these self-insured programs.

County retirement plans. The County provides a 401(a) plan, the Boone County Matching Pension
Plan, to eligible employees. The County’s contributions equal participating employees’ contributions
to the County’s Internal Revenue Code (IRC) section 457 deferred compensation plan, but not to
exceed $25 per bi-weekly pay period per each participant. The County’s matching contributions for
2003 were $157,424. This compares to a County contribution of $149,415 in fiscal year 2002.



Legislation enacted in 1994 provides for a statewide county employee retirement plan administered
through the Statewide County Employee Retirement Fund (CERF). This defined benefit plan is
funded with fees and employee contributions. The County is not required to make any contributions
but is permitted to make contributions. The County made contributions totaling $43,084 in fiscal year
2003; no contributions have been made in previous years. A state-wide governing board of directors
administers the plan.

The County offers its employees a deferred compensation plan established in accordance with IRC
Section 457. The plan, available to all county employees, permits them to defer a portion of their
salary until future years. All amounts of compensation deferred under the plan are held in trust for the
exclusive benefit of plan participants and their beneficiaries.

Other Information

Single audit. The County is required to undergo an annual single audit of federal expenditures in
conformity with the provisions of the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 and the United States
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-
profit Organizations. Information related to this single audit is included in a separate report. -

Certificate of Achievement. The County’s CAFR for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, was
awarded the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting from the Government
Finance Officers Association (GFOA). This was the 20" consecutive year the County has received
this prestigious award.

In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily
readable and efficiently organized CAFR, whose contents conform to program standards. The report
satisfied both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for one year only. We believe that our current CAFR will
continue to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program requirements and we will be submitting it to
the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.

Acknowledgment. I would like to recognize the County Commission and other elected officials for
their part in planning and conducting the financial operations of the County. In addition, I want to
express my appreciation to the staff members of the Boone County Auditor’s office who assisted in the
preparation of this report. Assistance was also provided by staff of other departments to whom I also
express my appreciation.

Respectfully submitted,
J . Pitchford

Hobne County Audirfo/r
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KPMG LLP

Suite 900

10 South Broadway

St. Louis, MO 63102-1761

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the County Commissioners of
Boone County, Missouri:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the discretely
presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Boone County,
Missouri, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2003, which collectively comprise Boone County,
Missouri’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the
responsibility of Boone County, Missouri’s management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these
financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the financial statements of the discretely presented
component unit. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been
furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the discretely presented
component unit, is based on the report of the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The
financial statements of the discretely presented component unit were not audited in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit, and the report of other auditors, provides a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

In our opinion, based upon our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities,
the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of
Boone County, Missouri, as of December 31, 2003, and the respective changes in financial position and cash
flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

As described in Note lo, during fiscal year 2003 Boone County, Missouri implemented a new financial
reporting model, as required by the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements — and Management’s Discussion and Analysis — for State and
Local Governments; GASB Statement No. 37, Basic Financial Statements — and Management’s Discussion
and Analysis — for State and Local Governments: Omnibus; GASB Statement No. 38, Certain Financial
Statement Note Disclosures; and GASB Interpretation No. 6, Recognition and Measurement of Certain
Liabilities and Expenditures in Governmental Fund Financial Statements.

3
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In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated June 11, 2004 on our
consideration of Boone County, Missouri’s, internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants. That report is an integral part of
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be read in conjunction
with this report in considering the results of our audit.

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 through 15 and the Budgetary Comparison
Information on pages 58 through 61 are not a required part of the basic financial statements but are
supplementary information required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management
regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information. However,
we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise Boone County, Missouri’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund financial
statements and schedules — other supplementary information are presented for purposes of additional analysis
and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information, except for that portion marked
“unaudited”, on which we express no opinion, has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation
to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

The introductory section and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a
required part of the basic financial statements. These sections have not been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on
them.

KPMe LIP

St. Louis, Missouri
June 11, 2004



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

This section of the County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report presents an easily readable
analysis of Boone County’s financial activities based on currently known facts, decisions, and
conditions. This is the first year Boone County, Missouri has prepared financial statements in
accordance with the new reporting model as prescribed by Governmental Accounting Standards
Board Statement No. 34 (GASB 34). As a result, comparisons with the previous year are limited.
For a comprehensive understanding of the County’s financial statements, please read the transmittal
letter at the front of this report along with the County’s basic financial statements, including the
footnotes, which follow the Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Financial Highlights

On a government-wide basis, net assets (the amount by which assets exceeded liabilities at
the close of the most recent fiscal year) totaled $53.4 million. Of this amount,
approximately $15 million is unrestricted and may be used to meet the government’s
ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.

On a government-wide basis, Boone County’s total net assets increased by $4.96 million or
approximately 10% during the fiscal year.

On a government-wide basis, the cost of the County’s governmental activities was $34
million.

At the close of the current fiscal year, Boone County’s governmental funds reported
combined ending fund balances of $21.35 million, an increase of $3.70 million in
comparison with the prior year. A portion of this amount, $15.9 million, is available for
spending at the government’s discretion (unreserved fund balance).

At the end of the current fiscal year, unreserved fund balance for the general fund was $9.5
million. Of this amount, $1.8 million is designated for capital improvements. Unreserved
fund balance net of the capital designation, or $7.7 million, represents 39% of expenditures.
A portion of the unreserved fund balance, approximately $2.1 million, was appropriated in
the Fiscal Year 2004 budget.

Boone County’s total long-term debt increased by $2.7 million. A factor in this increase
was the issuance of $5.24 million in refunding and capital improvement special obligation
bonds during the year.

The general fund revenues exceeded original budgetary estimates. Record-low mortgage
interest rates resulted in increases in recording activity and fees in the Recorder of Deeds
office. Also, sales tax revenue grew at a rate of 3.77%, which exceeded the budgetary
estimate of 1.5%.

General fund expenditures were $19.5 million, or 93% of budget, resulting in a favorable
budgetary variance of $1.40 million.



Overview of the Financial Statements

The implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34 (GASB 34)
has significantly changed the content and presentation of the County’s annual financial statements.
The County prepares and issues a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), which
provides extensive financial information beyond the minimum reporting requirements established
by generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The CAFR consists of the following parts:

e Introductory Section, which includes the transmittal letter and general information;

e Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), (this part);

e The Basic Financial Statements, which include the government-wide and the fund
financial statements, and the notes to the basic financial statements;

e Required Supplementary Information, which includes budgetary comparison information
for certain major funds and certain other required disclosures;

e Other Supplementary Information, which includes combining statements for non major
governmental funds, internal service funds, and fiduciary funds, as well as budgetary
comparison schedules for special revenue, debt service and capital project funds; and,

e Statistical Information

Government-wide Financial Statements

The first set of financial statements is the government-wide statements which report information
about the County as a whole. These statements are a result of GASB 34 and are new to the
County’s financial reporting. They provide both long-term and short-term information about the
County’s overall financial condition. These financial statements are prepared using a full accrual
basis of accounting in order to achieve a more corporate, or private-sector type presentation. The
two government-wide statements, Statement of Net Assets and Statement of Activities, report the
County’s net assets and how they have changed from the previous year. The County does not
provide services through business-type activities (such as a public utility); consequently, only
governmental activities are included in the County’s government-wide financial statements.

The Statement of Net Assets presents information on all of the County’s assets and liabilities, with
the difference between the two reported as net assets. Increases and decreases in net assets may
serve as a useful indicator of whether or not the financial position of the County is improving or
deteriorating. The Statement of Net Assets also provides information on unrestricted and restricted
net assets and net assets invested in capital assets, net of related debt.

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the County’s net assets changed
during the most recent fiscal year. All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted
for in the Statement of Activities regardless of the timing of related cash flows. The Statement of
Activities presents the various functions of the County and the degree to which they are supported
by charges for services, federal and state grants and contributions, tax revenues, and investment
income.

The government-wide financial statements include not only Boone County, Missouri itself (the
primary government), but also a legally separate hospital board of trustees for which Boone County
is financially accountable (a component unit). Financial information for the component unit is
reported separately from the financial information of the primary government. The government-
wide financial statements do not include any blended component units.
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The government-wide financial statements may be found on pages 18-19.

Fund Financial Statements

The second set of statements is the fund financial statements which provide information about
groupings of related accounts which are used to maintain control over resources for specific
activities or objectives. The County uses fund accounting to demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements. The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the
County’s most significant funds — not the County as a whole.

The County has three kinds of funds:

Governmental Funds. Governmental funds reflect how general government services
were financed in the short-term as well as what financial resources remain available for
future spending to finance County services.

The County maintains numerous individual governmental funds according to their type
(general, special revenue, debt service, and capital projects). Information is presented
separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for funds that are
considered to be a major fund; financial information for all non-major funds is
summarized and presented in a single column. Individual fund data for each of the non
major governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements within the
other supplementary information section of the CAFR.

Fund financial statements for governmental funds are prepared using a modified accrual
basis of accounting which differs from the full-accrual basis of accounting used to
prepare the government-wide financial statements. Because of the resulting differences,
reconciliations of the fund financial statements to the government-wide financial
statements are provided.

Proprietary Funds. Proprietary funds offer short-term and long-term financial
information about services which the County provides through a business-type
operation, using a full accrual basis of accounting. The County does not operate
enterprise activities, where the customers are primarily external to the County, such as
with a public utility. However, the County does operate several internal service
activities where the customers are internal County departments.

Fiduciary Funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit
of individuals or entities external to the County. The County’s fiduciary responsibilities
are summarized and reported by type: pension trust fund, private-purpose trust funds,
and agency funds. These assets are restricted as to purpose and use or are being held by
the County on behalf of others and do not represent discretionary assets of the County.
Therefore, these assets are not presented as a part of the government-wide financial
statements.



Financial Analysis of the County as a Whole

This is the first year for the County to prepare financial statements using GASB 34 guidelines. As a
result, comparative data is not available; however, comparable data will be available in future years.

Net Assets

On a government-wide basis, the County’s net assets were approximately $53.48 million at fiscal
year end and are shown in the table below.

Boone County, Missouri

Schedule of Net Assets
December 31, 2003
Governmental
Activities

Assets:
Current and other assets $ 28,810,107
Capital assets, net 37,096,850

Total assets 65,906,957
Liabilities:
Long-term liabilities outstanding 7,038,421
Other liabilities 5,389,059

Total liabilities 12,427,480
Net Assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of

related debt 33,367,459
Restricted 4,984,204
Unrestricted 15,127,814
Total net assets 3 53,479,477

As noted earlier, net assets may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. For
the County, assets exceeded liabilities by $53.4 million at the close of the current fiscal year.

The largest portion of the County’s net assets, or approximately 62%, reflects its investment of
$33.4 million in capital assets, less any related outstanding debt used to acquire these assets. The
County uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not
available for future spending. Although the County’s investment in capital assets is reported net of
related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from
other sources since the capital assets themselves cannot be liquidated for the liabilities.

Included in the County’s total net assets is $4.9 million which represents resources that are subject
to external restrictions (including statutory restrictions) as to how they may be used. The remaining
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net assets of $15.1 million are unrestricted and may be used to meet the government’s obligations to
citizens and creditors.

Governmental Activities

The following schedule shows the revenues and expenses for the County’s activities for the year
ended December 31, 2003.

Boone County, Missouri
Schedule of Changes in Net Assets

December 31, 2003
Governmental
Activities
Revenues:

Program revenues:
Charges for services 3 5,289,536
Grants and other support 5,385,297

General revenues:
Property taxes 3,149,292
Sales taxes 22,830,022
Franchise taxes 164,694
Investment income 220,320
Hospital lease revenue 1,404,518
Other 555,255
Total revenues 38,998,934

Expenses:
Policy and administration 6,024,342
Law enforcement and judicial 14,861,271
Environment, public buildings 10,636,282
and infrastructure

Community health and public services 1,197,204
Economic vitality 66,000
Beautification and recreation 27,291
Protective inspection 823,532
Interest and fiscal charges 401,632
Total expenses 34,037,554
Increase in net assets 4,961,380
Net assets, beginning of year 48,518,097
Net assets, end of year $ 53,479,477




The County’s total revenue on a government-wide basis was $38.99 million. All taxes combined
comprise 67% of total revenues, with sales tax as the single largest source of revenue accounting for
58% of all County revenue. Charges for services and grants and other support account for 13%
each of County revenues. The remaining 7% of County revenues are derived from hospital lease
revenues, investment income, and other revenue.

The total cost of all programs and services was $34 million. The County’s expenses cover a broad
range of services typically provided by county government. Law enforcement and judicial expenses
account for 44% of total expenses followed by 31% for environment and infrastructure (public
works). These areas also account for the largest burden on general tax revenues in the amount of
$11.3 million and $8.3 million, respectively.

Governmental activities increased the County’s net assets by $4.9 million. Since this is the first
year for government-wide reporting, comparative analysis to the previous year cannot be reported.
However, key factors influencing this increase are identified below.

e Low mortgage interest rates resulted in increased activity and charges for service
revenue for the Recorder of Deeds office.

e Economically sensitive sales tax revenue performed better than expected. Budgetary
expectations reflected an assumption of minimal growth, consistent with state-wide and
national trends. However, local economic activity was stronger than anticipated.

e County voters approved an additional 1/8-cent sales tax for law enforcement and judicial
activities, effective January 1, 2003. Total revenue exceeded expenses for the year by
$730,000, mostly attributable to delays in hiring additional staff.

¢ The County received unexpected workers’ compensation refunds from close-out of prior
year’s claims. The refunds totaled more than $217,000.

e The County realized combined gains on the sale and trade-in of capital assets totaling
more than $116,000.

¢ Revenues exceeded expenses for various County activities which are established by state
statute and subject to the appropriation authority of specific elected officials. Such
activities include Record Preservation (Recorder of Deeds), Tax Maintenance (Collector
of Revenue), Election Services (County Clerk), Assessment (Assessor), and Sheriff Civil
Charges (Sheriff). Combined, these account for approximately $200,000 increase in net
assets. The nature of these funds is such that resources (net assets) may be accumulated
over several years in order to finance a large project.
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Financial Analysis of the County’s Funds

As previously mentioned, the purpose and focus of the County’s governmental funds is different
than that of the government-wide financial statements. A discussion and analysis of the County’s
three types of fund financial statements (governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary
funds) is presented below.

General Fund and Other Governmental Funds

The focus of the County’s governmental funds is to provide information on the inflows, outflows,
and balances of resources that are available for spending as well as to demonstrate compliance with
statutory and other legal requirements. As a result, the fund financial statements reflect a current
financial resources focus rather than a total economic resources focus which is used in the
government-wide financial statements.

Given the focus of the fund financial statements, an unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful
measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the unreserved fund balance of the general fund was $9.5
million, of which $1.8 million is designated for capital improvements, resulting in an unreserved
and undesignated fund balance of $7.7 million. As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it may
be useful to compare this amount to total fund expenditures and transfers out which calculates to
39%. A portion of the unreserved fund balance, approximately $2.1 million, was appropriated in
the Fiscal Year 2004 budget.

The total fund balance in the County’s general fund increased by $861,000 or by 9%. The change
in the current fiscal year’s fund balance is primarily due to the following factors.

e Increased activity and revenues in the Recorder of Deeds office resulting from the low
mortgage interest rates. The low interest rates also had the effect of reducing investment
income, but the reduction was more than offset by increases in the charges for service
revenue;

e Sales tax revenues were higher than expected, with the local economy experiencing a
less severe slow-down than was observed state-wide and nationally;

e An unexpected workers’ compensation refund;

e Actual spending was less than expected across most functional areas. Historically,
actual spending in the General Fund is approximately 93% to 95% of budgeted amounts.
These savings result from a combination of various factors including personnel
vacancies, savings from bidding and competitive procurement, unspent emergency
appropriations, and general overall savings across the various offices and departments.

The total fund balance in the County’s Road and Bridge Fund increased by $424,000 or 12%. This

increase is primarily due to better-than-expected sales tax revenues and an unexpected workers’
compensation refund. The unreserved fund balance for the Road and Bridge Fund at the end of the
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fiscal year was $2.6 million; a significant portion of this fund balance, approximately $1.5 million,
was appropriated in the 2004 budget.

The fund balance in the County’s Health Department Capital Project Fund increased by
approximately $512,000 or 54%. This increase is primarily due to the inflow of bond proceeds
during the year which will be used for the City/County Health Facility project. Completion is
scheduled for mid-year 2004.

Fund balances in the County’s non major governmental funds increased by a combined amount of
$1.9 million, or 45%. Most of this increase, $1.5 million, is attributable to bond proceeds deposited
into the County’s capital project funds to be used for specified building projects. Of the remaining
increase in fund balance, approximately $380,000 is attributable to the accumulation of resources in
numerous special revenue funds, many of which are subject to the appropriation authority of
specific elected officials other than the County Commission. As previously noted, some of these
special revenue funds are used to accumulate resources over a period of time in order to finance
significant budgetary expenditures in a subsequent year.

Proprietary Funds
As previously noted, the County does not operate enterprise funds; however it does operate several

internal service funds. At the end of the fiscal year, the unrestricted net assets for the County’s
various internal service funds were as follows:

e Self-Insured Health Plan: $261,649

e Self-Insured Dental Plan: $ 17,942

e Facilities and Grounds: $220,002

e Capital Repair and Replacement: $621,008

e Building Utilities: $121,630
Fiduciary Funds

The County maintains a fiduciary fund for the assets of the pension trust fund for Boone County
Matching Pension Plan for county employees. As of the end of the current fiscal year, the net assets
of the pension fund totaled $761,961, representing an increase of $244,129, or 47%, in total net
assets from the previous year. The change is primarily due to employer matching contributions and
investment income.

The County is trustee for two private-purpose trust funds. At the end of the current fiscal year, net
assets of the trust funds totaled $39,039, representing a decrease of $260 in net assets from the
previous year. The change is due to distributions made from the trust funds, pursuant to the trust
agreements.

The County is the custodian of numerous agency funds. The most common use of agency funds is
to account for pass-through activity associated with property tax collection and distribution;
however, the County administers numerous agency funds for various other purposes such as pass-
through criminal costs, inmate funds, and unclaimed fees. Since, by definition, all assets of the
agency funds are held for the benefit of other entities, there are no net assets to discuss. As of the
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end of the current fiscal year, the combined gross assets of the agency funds totaled over $103
million.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The final budget for the County’s general fund represents the original budget plus any supplemental
appropriations approved during the year. Prior year encumbrances are accounted for as a
reservation of fund balance and are not added to the subsequent year’s budget. Supplemental
appropriations to the General Fund for the year totaled approximately $350,000 and represent
budgetary increases associated with various grants received during the year. As previously noted,
actual revenues exceeded budgetary estimates for the year and actual expenditures were less than
appropriations resulting in a combined favorable budgetary variance. Revenues exceeded
budgetary estimates by 4% and expenditures totaled 93% of budget. Appropriate adjustments were
implemented in the Fiscal Year 2004 budget process, depending on the causal factors of the
variances.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration
Capital Assets

The County had invested over $37 million in a broad range of capital assets (net of accumulated
depreciation) at the close of the fiscal year. This amount represents a net increase of approximately
$4 million or 12%, over last year. Detailed information is provided in the schedule below.

Boone County, Missouri
Schedule of Capital Assets,
Net of Accumulated Depreciation

December 31, 2003
Governmental
Activities

Land $ 4,650,515
Construction in progress 2,228,000
Works of art 120,228
Buildings and improvements 24,272,854
Vehicles and equipment 4,488,908
Office furniture and equipment 271,849
Infrastructure 1,064,496
Total capital assets $ 37,096,850

e $1.86 million in construction in progress pertaining to the Health Department facility
and the Juvenile Justice Center expansion
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e $436,000 in infrastructure construction in progress and $1.1 million in completed and/or
developer-donated infrastructure

¢ $2.4 million in routine building, vehicle, and equipment additions and replacements

For government-wide financial presentation, all depreciable capital assets were depreciated from
acquisition date to the end of the current fiscal year. Fund financial statements, however, record
capital asset purchases as expenditures.

Capital asset retirements and disposals in the current year of $201,273 (net of accumulated
depreciation) consisted of miscellaneous vehicles, office furniture, and equipment.

Under the provisions of GASB 34, the County is required to begin prospective reporting of all
general infrastructure assets beginning in fiscal year 2003, the year of implementation. The
County’s deadline for retroactively reporting all general infrastructure assets is fiscal year 2007.
The County is continuing its efforts to compile the information needed to comply with the
retroactive reporting requirement. Accordingly, amounts presented in the schedule above and in
other sections of this CAFR reflect prospective reporting only at this time.

Long-term Debt

At the end of fiscal year 2003, the County had outstanding long-term debt obligations for
governmental activities in the amount of $6.35 million compared to $3.7 million from the previous
year. Of this amount, $959,000 are general obligation bonds issued for the Neighborhood
Improvement District program and are being retired through special assessments; $5.32 million are
special obligation bonds being retired through general fund appropriations; and $72,000 is
associated with a capital lease. The significant increase in long-term debt reflects the issuance of
$5.24 million (face value) of refunding and capital improvement special obligation bonds during
fiscal year 2003. The unamortized premium on these bonds at year-end was $84,674. The proceeds
were used to retire approximately $1.9 million in outstanding bonds, taking advantage of favorable
interest rates, and to obtain additional construction proceeds for various capital projects.

The schedule below summarizes the balance of net outstanding debt. As previously noted, the
County does not report business type activities; accordingly, all debt is attributable to governmental
activities.

Boone County, Missouri
Schedule of Net Outstanding Debt

December 31,
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
2003 2002

Governmental Activities
General obligation debt $ 959,000 1,125,000
Special obligation debt 5,324,674 2,180,000
Note payable - 300,000
Capital lease obligation 72,064 104,673

Total $ 6,355,738 3,709,673
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Economic Outlook

The unemployment rate for Boone County remains lower than the state and national averages.
Assessed valuation continues to grow and the local economy appears stable with sales tax revenue
currently growing at a rate of 2.5 to 3.5%. All of these factors were considered in preparing the
Boone County budget for fiscal year 2004.

As previously noted, unreserved fund balance in the general fund increased during fiscal year 2003
and a portion of this unreserved fund balance, approximately $2.1 million, was appropriated for
spending in the fiscal year 2004 budget. It is intended that the use of available fund balance will
avoid the need to raise taxes or reduce appropriations during the 2004 fiscal year.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the finances of Boone County,
Missouri, for all those with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of
the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be
directed to the office of Boone County Auditor, Roger B. Wilson Government Center, 801 E.
Walnut, Room 205, Columbia, MO 65201.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
DECEMBER 31, 2003

Primary Government Component Unit
Governmental Boone Hospital
Activities Trustees
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 398,717 3,653,915
Investments 14,167,088 36,092,482
Accrued interest 106,974 297,222
Accounts receivable 824,680 78,734
Commissions receivable 256,320 -
Property taxes receivable 3,023,036 -
Assessments receivable 665,299 -
Sales taxes receivable 4,144,702 -
Due from other governments 904,077 -
Due from others 3,800 9,245,564
Loans receivable 36,350 -
Deferred charges 157,869 329,293
Prepaid items 50,188 16,321
Restricted assets 4,071,007 7,815,503
Capital assets, net:
Nondepreciable 6,998,743 18,136,271
Depreciable 30,098,107 25,166,904
Total assets 65,906,957 100,832,209
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 3,901,001 152,219
Wages payable 672,559 -
Accrued liabilities 70,663 -
Due to others 43,583 -
Estimated liability for claims
incurred but not paid 176,248 -
Deferred revenue 416,135 -
Interest payable 108,870 568,657
Long-term liabilities
Due within one year 525,450 1,800,000
Due within more than one year 6,512,971 26,393,894
Total liabilities 12,427,480 28,914,770
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of
related debt 33,367,459 15,109,281
Restricted for:

Debt service 1,961,658 7,815,503
Other purposes 3,022,546 -
Unrestricted 15,127,814 48,992,655
Total net assets $ 53,479,477 71,917,439

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accrued interest
Accounts receivable
Commissions receivable
Property taxes receivable
Assessments receivable
Sales taxes receivable
Loans receivable from other funds
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Due from others
Loans receivable
Prepaid items

" Restricted assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Wages payable
Accrued liabilities
Due to other funds
Due to others
Deferred revenue
Loans payable to other funds

Total iiabilities

Fund balances
Reserved for loans receivable
Reserved for prepaid items
Reserved for debt service
Reserved for capital projects
Reserved for encumbrances
Unreserved
Designated for capital improvements
Undesignated, reported in:
General fund
Specical revenue funds
Capital project funds

Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2003

Major Funds

Health Dept Other Total
General Road & Bridge Capital Project Governmental Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds
b 192,791 34,210 5,049 166,667 398,717
6,340,823 2,105,243 959,050 3,312,155 12,717,271
70,166 10,326 3,549 15,049 99,090
207,008 13,292 500,000 82,214 802,514
169,200 4,455 - 82,665 256,320
2,107,743 844,155 - 71,138 3,023,036
- - - 665,299 665,299
1,845,708 1,844,667 - 454,327 4,144,702
3,015 - - - 3,015
130,019 20,156 - 153 150,328
392,191 252,971 - 258,915 904,077
3,800 - - - 3,800
36,350 - - - 36,350
49,968 - - 220 50,188
355,659 - 1,560,000 2,155,348 4,071,007
11,904,441 5,129,475 3,027,648 7,264,150 27,325,714
759,593 1,248,124 1,575,114 302,717 3,885,548
463,805 117,929 - 69,411 651,145
59,560 4,524 - 5,100 69,184
4,639 - - 134,037 138,676
23,548 - - 20,035 43,583
453,896 26,516 - 698,382 1,178,794
- - - 3,015 3,015
1,765,041 1,397,093 1,575,114 1,232,697 5,969,945
39,365 - - - 39,365
49,968 - - 220 50,188
- - - 940,700 940,700
355,659 - 888,639 643,186 1,887,484
141,917 1,098,592 - 1,278,712 2,519,221
1,823,525 - - 250,000 2,073,525
7,728,966 - - - 7,728,966
- 2,633,790 - 2,835,617 5,469,407
- - 563,895 83,018 646,913
10,139,400 3,732,382 1,452,534 6,031,453 21,355,769
$ 11,904,441 5,129,475 3,027,648 7,264,150 27,325,714

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Total fund balance - total governmental funds - balance sheet $ 21,355,769
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities (excluding internal service fund capital assets) are
not financial resources and therefore are not reported in the fund financial statements. 37,075,634

Some of the County's property taxes and special assessments will be collected after the 60-day
availability period and are deferred in the fund financial statements. However, revenue for this
amount is recognized in the government-wide financial statements 762,659

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of building and custodial

maintenance and self-insurance to the individual governmental funds, generally on a cost

reimbursement basis. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in

governmental activities in the statement of net assets. 1,263,447

Long-term liabilities applicable to the County's governmental activities (excluding internal service
fund accrued compensated absences) are not due and payable in the current period and accordingly
are not reported as liabilities within the fund financial statements. Interest on long-term debt is not
accrued in governmental funds, but rather is recognized as an expenditure when due. All liabilities -
both current and long-term - are reported on the government-wide statement of net assets. Also,
during the year the County issued new debt and refunded some of its existing debt. Premiums and
bond issuance costs are reported in the governmental fund financial statements when the debt was
issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the debt as an adjustment
to interest expense on the government-wide financial statements.

Balances as of December 31, 2003 are:

Accrued interest on long-term debt (108,870)
Bonds and capital leases payable (6,271,064)
Unamortized premiums (84,674)
Unamortized bond issuance costs 157,869
Accrued compensated absences (exluding internal service fund) (671,293)

Total net assets - governmental activities - statement of net assets $ 53,479,477

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

REVENUES
Property taxes
Assessments
Sales taxes
Other taxes
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Investment income
Interfund services provided
Miscellaneous
Hospital lease revenue
Contributions
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Current
Policy and administration
Law enforcement and judicial

Environment, public buildings and infrastructure

Community health and public services
Economic vitality
Beautification and recreation
Protective inspection
Interfund services used
Capital outlay
Debt service
Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges

Total expenditures
REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Long-term debt issued
Premium on long-term debt
Transfers in
Payments for bond refunding
Transfers out
Sale of capital assets

Total other financing sources (uses)
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES
FUND BALANCES, beginning of year

FUND BALANCES, end of year

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Major Funds
Health Dept Other Total
General Road & Bridge Capital Project Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

$ 2,257,713 904,852 - - 3,162,565
- - - 209,541 209,541
9,834,025 10,296,708 - 2,699,289 22,830,022
137,206 - - - 137,206
379,811 18,416 - - 398,227
2,296,641 1,580,653 - 552,887 4,430,181
3,442,946 62,771 - 1,226,698 4,732,415
- - - 27,284 27,284

84,725 23,803 16,078 65,493 190,099
194,897 16,065 - - 210,962
1,404,518 - - - 1,404,518
550 - 500,000 250 500,800
312,658 102,537 - 78,532 493,727
20,345,690 13,005,805 516,078 4,859,974 38,727,547
4,651,651 - - 889,041 5,540,692
11,878,566 - - 2,010,967 13,889,533
99,211 10,764,650 - 84,031 10,947,892
1,044,639 - - 151,647 1,196,286
66,000 - - - 66,000
27,291 - - - 27,291
774,519 - - - 774,519
16,065 150,000 - 44,897 210,962
530,242 1,578,244 1,673,401 1,153,126 4,935,013
347,609 300,000 - 166,000 813,609
58,026 9,181 163,313 50,143 280,663
19,493,819 12,802,075 1,836,714 4,549,852 38,682,460
851,871 203,730 (1,320,636) 310,122 45,087
1,867,272 - 1,694,580 1,678,148 5,240,000
31,661 - 28,733 27,200 87,594
7,652 - 110,000 113,000 230,652
(1,898,933) - - - (1,898,933)
- - - (230,652) (230,652)

2,000 220,274 - - 222,274
9,652 220,274 1,833,313 1,587,696 3,650,935
861,523 424,004 512,677 1,897,818 3,696,022
9,277,877 3,308,378 939,857 4,133,635 17,659,747
3 10,139,400 3,732,382 1,452,534 6,031,453 21,355,769
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES

IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Net change in fund balances - governmental funds- statement of revenues, expenditures and
changes in fund balances

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of
activities the cost of those assets which meet the capitalization threshold is allocated over
their estimated useful life and recorded as depreciation expense. This is amount by which
such capital outlays exceeded depreciation expense in the current period.

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets (i.e., sales,
trade-ins) is to decrease net assets.

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are
not reported as revenues in the fund financial statements. This amount represents the
extent to which revenues not providing current financial resources in the prior fiscal year
exceeded revenues not providing current financial resources in the current fiscal year.

Governmental funds do not report revenue arising from the receipt of donated or
contributed capital assets. However, in the statement of activities, such revenue is
recognized and reported.

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of building and custodial
maintenance and self-insurance to the individual governmental funds. The net income of

internal service funds attributable to governmental activities is reported on the statement of

activities.

Bond proceeds are reported as financing sources in governmental funds financial
statements and thus contribute to the net change in fund balance. In the statement of net
assets, however, issuing debt increases long-term liabilities and does not affect the
statement of activities. Similarly, repayment of principal is an expenditure in the
governmental funds financial statements but reduces the liability in the statement of net
assets.

Debt issued during the current year: Special obligation bonds payable
Repayments during the current year:

Refunding special obligation bonds payable
Annual principal payments on bonds payable and capital leases

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the governmental funds financial

statements, expenditures are not recognized for transactions that are not normally paid with

expendable available financial resources. In the statement of activities, however, which is
presented on the accrual basis of accounting, expenses and liabilities are reported

regardless of when financial resources are available. In addition, interest on long-term debt

is not recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting until due, rather than as it
accrues.

This adjustment combines the net changes of the following:
Accrued compensated absences
Accrued interest on bonds
Premiums on debt issuances, net of amortization
Deferred bond issuance costs, net of amortization

Change in net assets - governmental activities - statement of activities

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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3,696,022
3,821,791
(199,295)
(185,627)
410,162
50,928
(5,240,000)
1,865,000
813,609
(2,561,391)
(54,449)
(89,956)
(84,674)
157,869

(71,210)
4,961,380



BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2003

Governmental
Activities-Internal
Service Funds

ASSETS
Current assets:
Investments $ 1,449,817
Accrued interest 7,884
Accounts receivable 22,166
Total current assets 1,479,867
Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets, net 21,216
Total assets 1,501,083
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 15,453
Wages payable 21,414
Compensated absences 11,390
Accrued liabilities 1,479
Estimated liability for claims incurred
but not paid 176,248
Due to other funds 11,652
Total liabilities 237,636
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 21,216
Unrestricted 1,242,231
Total net assets $ 1,263,447

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Governmental
Activities-Internal
Service Funds

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 3,140,408
Miscellaneous 4912
Total operating revenues 3,145,320

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and employee benefits 477,422
Claims expense 1,602,490
Insurance premiums 368,431
Supplies, other services and charges 667,872
Depreciation 6,420
Total operating expenses 3,122,635
Operating income 22,685

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Investment income 30,221
Loss on disposal of capital assets (1,978)
Total nonoperating revenues 28,243
Change in net assets 50,928
Total net assets, beginning of year 1,212,519
Total net assets, end of year $ 1,263,447

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Governmental

Activities-Interna
Service Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers $ 3,143,473
Other operating cash receipts 4,912
Payments to employees (460,952)
Payments to suppliers for goods and services (2,748,494)
Net cash used in operating activities (61,061)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Advance from other funds 11,652
Subsidy from other funds 347,262
Net cash provided by noncapital and related financing activities 358,914

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 569,481
Purchase of investments (2,019,297)
Interest 40,235
Net cash used in investing activities (1,409,581)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,111,728)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,111,728
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ -

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
used in operating activities:

Operating income $ 22,685
Depreciation 6,420
Change in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in receivables 3,065
Decrease in accounts payable (66,460)
Increase in wages payable 5,048
Increase in accrued liabilities 32
Increase in estimated liability for claims incurred but not paid (43,241)
Increase in compensated absences 11,390
Net cash used in operating activities 3 (61,061)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Pension Private-purpose Agency
Trust Fund Trust Funds Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ - 5 22,245,810
Investments:
U.S. Government and agency
securities - 38,872 72,065,157
Money market mutual funds 689,707 - -
Investment contract agreements 72,254 - -
Accrued interest - 162 53,258
Accounts receivable - - 130,433
Property taxes receivable - - 8,375,610
Due from others - - 242.389
Total assets 761,961 39,039 103,112,657
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable - - 310,945
Due to other political subdivisions - - 102,801,712
Total liabilities - - 103,112,657
NET ASSETS
Held in trust for:
Employees' retirement plan 761,961 - -
Restricted - 39,039 -
Total net assets $ 761,961 39,039 -

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Pension Private-purpose
Trust Fund Trust Funds

ADDITIONS

Contributions - employer $ 157,043 300

Other 381 -

Investment income 111,517 421

Total additions 268,941 721
DEDUCTIONS

Benefits 24,812 -

Scholarships - 981

Total deductions 24,812 981

Change in net assets 244,129 (260)
NET ASSETS,

beginning of year 517,832 39,299
NET ASSETS,

end of year $ 761,961 39,039

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

December 31, 2003

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Boone County, Missouri (the County), is a first-class County, effective January 1, 1991, governed by a county
commission comprised of a northern district commissioner, southern district commissioner and presiding
commissioner. Elected officials are responsible for the operations of certain County offices including the
assessor, collector, treasurer, clerk, auditor, sheriff, public administrator, prosecuting attorney and recorder
offices and the circuit court with its various divisions.

The accounting policies and financial reporting practices of the County conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America applicable to governmental entities. The following is a
summary of the more significant policies:

(a) Reporting Entity

The County’s financial reporting entity has been determined in accordance with governmental standards
for defining the reporting entity and identifying entities to be included in its basic financial statements.
These standards identify the County’s financial accountability for potential component units as the
primary, but not only, criteria for inclusion. The County is financially accountable if it appoints a voting
majority of a potential component unit governing body and is able to impose its will on that potential
component unit, or there is a potential for the potential component unit to provide specific financial
benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on the County. The County’s financial reporting entity
consists of Boone County, Missouri (the primary government) and its component unit.

Component Unit

The County has no blended component units. The component unit column in the government-wide
financial statements presents the financial data of the County’s discretely presented component unit
discussed below.

Board of Trustees of Boone County Hospital — The Board of Trustees of Boone County Hospital
(Trustees) is the governing body of Boone Hospital Center (Hospital), which provides acute health care
services to Columbia and the surrounding region. In September of 1998, the Trustees and the County
entered into a lease agreement with CH Allied Services, Inc. (CHAS) to operate the Hospital. In January
2001, the lease agreement was amended and restated. The Hospital lease agreement is explained in Note
11. The Trustees serve as lessor and share in certain Hospital management responsibilities pursuant to the
lease agreement. The original lease and any renewals require the approval of the County Commissioners.
The Trustees, who are elected by County voters, do not have authority to issue debt without approval by
the County Commissioners.

The Trustees also govern the Boone Hospital Foundation and The Walter Johnson Palliative Care
Foundation. Both Foundations began business in 2002, and are included as discretely presented
component units of the Trustees. The purpose of the Boone Hospital Foundation is to provide support
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

December 31, 2003

and provision of care to and in respect to patients at the Hospital and its facilities. The purpose of the
Walter Johnson Palliative Care Foundation is to provide support and provision of palliative care to
patients and their families at the Hospital and its facilities. Financial information presented for the
Trustees is for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003.

Complete financial statements for the discretely presented component unit can be obtained from its
administrative office as follows:

Boone Hospital Center
1600 E. Broadway
Columbia, Missouri 65201

Related Organizations'

The County Commissioners are also responsible for appointing the members of Boone County Group
Homes and Family Support, the Board of Trustees of the Boone County Regional Sewer District, the
Industrial Development Authority, the Boone County Library Board, and the Boone County Mental
Health Board of Trustees. The County’s accountability for these organizations does not extend beyond
making the appointments. Thus, these organization are not component units of the County and,
accordingly, no financial data for these organizations are included in the County’s basic financial
statements.

(b) Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net assets and the statement of activities)
report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the County and its component unit. The effect of
interfund activity has been removed from these statements. The County’s nonfiduciary activities consist
entirely of governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental
revenues. The County has no business-type activities which rely to a significant extent on charges for
services from external parties. Additionally, the County is reported separately from the legally separate
component unit for which the County is financially accountable.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function. Program revenues include 1) charges for services to customers or applicants who
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function and 2)
grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a
particular function. Taxes, unrestricted interest earnings, gains, and other miscellaneous revenues not
properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

December 31, 2003

Following the government-wide financial statements are separate financial statements for governmental
funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. Fiduciary activities are excluded from the government-wide
financial statements. Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the fund
financial statements. The County has determined that the general fund, the road and bridge fund, and the
health department capital projects fund are major governmental funds. All other governmental funds are
reported in one column labeled “Other Governmental Funds”. The total fund balances for all
governmental funds is reconciled to total net assets for governmental activities as shown on the statement
of net assets. The net change in fund balance for all governmental funds is reconciled to the total change
in net assets as shown on the statement of activities in the government-wide statements. Additionally,
the County has five internal service funds (governmental activities): self-insured health plan, self-insured
dental plan, facilities and grounds, building and grounds capital repair and replacement fund, and utilities
fund. All internal service fund activity is combined into a single column on the proprietary fund
statements, since major fund reporting requirements do not apply to internal service funds.

The fund financial statements of the County are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is
considered a separate accounting entity with self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities,
fund balances/net assets, revenues and expenditures, or expenses. Governmental resources are allocated to
and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the
means by which spending activities are controlled. The following funds are reported by the County:

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions are financed. The acquisition,
uses and balances of the County’s expendable financial resources and the related liabilities (except those
accounted for in proprietary funds) are accounted for through governmental funds. The measurement
focus is upon determination of and changes in financial position rather than upon net income.

The following are the County’s governmental major funds:

General Fund — The general fund is the general operating fund of the County. All general tax revenues
and other receipts not allocated by law or contractual agreement to another fund are accounted for in this
fund. This fund provides for general operating expenditures, fixed charges and the capital improvement
costs not paid through other funds.

Road and Bridge Fund — The road and bridge fund is a special revenue fund used to account for the
operations of the public works department. Financing is funded by a one-half cent sales tax, revenue
from the State of Missouri, and occasional transfers from the general fund.

Health Department Capital Projects Fund — The health department capital projects fund is used to account
for the resources used in the planning, renovating, and expanding of the City/County Health Facility.

31 (Continued)



BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

December 31, 2003

The other governmental funds of the County are considered nonmajor. They are special revenue funds
which account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally restricted to expenditures for
specific purposes; debt service funds which account for the accumulation of resources for, and repayment
of, general obligation long-term debt principal, interest and related costs; and capital projects funds which
account for financial resources used for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities.

Proprietary Funds

Proprietary funds are used to account for activities that are similar to those found in the private sector.
The measurement focus is on the determination of net income and capital maintenance.

The following are the County’s proprietary funds:

Internal Service Funds — Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services
provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of a government, or to other
governments, on a cost reimbursement basis. The following internal service funds have been established:
the self-insured health plan fund, the self-insured dental-plan fund, the facilities and grounds fund, the
building and grounds capital repair and replacement fund, and the utilities fund. The self-insured health
plan fund accounts for operations of the self-insured health plan for County employees. The self-insured
dental plan fund accounts for operations of the self-insured dental plan for County employees. The
facilities and grounds fund accounts for the operations of the facilities maintenance and housekeeping
departments.  The buildings and grounds capital repair and replacement fund provides for the
accumulation of resources to be used for major repairs and replacements for county-owned buildings.
The utilities fund accounts for building utilities for the Government Center, the Johnson Building, the
Courthouse, and the County-owned space in the Centrailia Clinic.

In the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, the County applies all applicable
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements as well as the following private-
sector pronouncements issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless these pronouncements conflict
with or contradict GASB pronouncements: Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statements
and Interpretations, Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinions, and Accounting Research Bulletins
(ARBs) of the Committee on Accounting Procedure. The discretely presented component unit has elected
to apply the provisions of all relevant pronouncements of the FASB, including those issued after
November 30, 1989, that do not conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements.

Fiduciary Funds
Trust and Agency — Trust and agency funds are used to account for assets held by the County in a trustee
capacity or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, or other governmental units. These include

pension trust funds, private purpose trust funds, and agency funds. Pension trust funds and private
purpose trust funds are accounted for and reported similar to proprietary funds. Agency funds are
custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve the measurement of results of operations.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

December 31, 2003

(c) Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in the accounts
and reported in the basic financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the
measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus
and accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund, pension trust fund, private purpose trust fund
and agency fund financial statements, as well as the discretely presented component unit. Revenues are
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of
the related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.
Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements have been met.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
expenses for the internal service funds consist of the cost of providing services to other County funds, and
operating revenues consist of the charges to other County funds for these services. Investment income
and gains or losses on disposals of capital items are considered nonoperating.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when both measurable and
available. The term “available” is defined as collectible within the current period or soon enough
thereafter to be used to pay the liabilities of the current period. For the County, available is defined as
expected to be received within sixty days of fiscal year-end, except for government grants, which is
within two hundred and seventy days of fiscal year-end. Expenditures generally are recorded when a
liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as
expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when
payment is due (i.e. matured).

GASB Statement No. 33 groups nonexchange transactions into the following four classes, based upon
their principal characteristics: derived tax revenues, imposed nonexchange revenues, government
mandated nonexchange transactions, and voluntary nonexchange transactions.

The County recognizes assets from derived tax revenue transactions (such as sales taxes) in the period
when the underlying exchange transaction on which the tax is imposed occurs or when the assets are
received, whichever occurs first. Revenues are recognized, net of estimated refunds and estimated
uncollectible amounts, in the same period that the assets are recognized, provided that the underlying
exchange transaction has occurred. Resources received in advance are reported as deferred revenues until
the period of the exchange.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

December 31, 2003

The County recognizes assets from imposed nonexchange revenue transactions (such as property taxes,
licenses and permits, and fines and forfeitures) in the period when an enforceable legal claim to the assets
arises or when the resources are received, whichever occurs first. Revenues are recognized in the period
when the resources are required to be used or the first period that use is permitted. The County recognizes
revenues from property taxes, net of refunds and estimated uncollectible amounts, in the period for which
the taxes are levied.

Intergovernmental revenues, representing grants and assistance received from other governmental units,
are generally recognized as revenues in the period when all eligibility requirements, as defined by
GASB 33, have been met. Any resources received before eligibility requirements are met are reported as
deferred revenues.

Charges for services in the governmental funds, which are exchange transactions and are therefore not
subject to the provisions of GASB 33, are recognized as revenues when received in cash because they are
generally not measurable until actually received.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the County’s policy to use
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

For the pension trust funds, under the accrual basis of accounting, contributions are recognized in the
period in which the contributions are due and benefits are recognized when they become due and payable.

Cash and Investments

The County Treasurer maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds except
the pension trust fund. Within the financial statements, income from investments associated with one
fund is not assigned to another fund for other than legal or contractual reasons. In addition, cash and
investments are separately maintained by County court officials, and third-party trustee and fiscal agents.

Investments are recorded at fair value. Fair values for investments are determined by closing market
prices at year end.

Inventories

Purchases of materials and supplies in the governmental funds are charged to expenditures as incurred.
Amounts of inventories are immaterial.

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include buildings, improvements, equipment, infrastructure assets (e.g., roads,
drainage structures, and similar items), and works of art are reported in the governmental activities
column in the government-wide financial statements, net of accumulated depreciation. Capital assets are
also recorded in the proprietary fund financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the County as
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assets with an estimated useful life in excess of one year with an initial, individual cost of $5,000 or more,
infrastructure with a cost of $50,000 or more, and all land and land improvements.

Pursuant to the transition provisions of GASB Statement No. 34, infrastructure assets acquired prior to
January 1, 2003, have not been reported within the County’s basic financial statements. These
infrastructure assets will be retroactively reported in future years.

Purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. Donated capital
assets are recorded at their estimated fair market value at the date of donation. The costs of normal
maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the assets lives are
not capitalized.

Depreciation, including depreciation recognized on assets acquired through government grants and other
aid, is computed on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the various classes of
assets. The estimated useful lives of depreciable capital assets are as follows:

Years
Buildings and improvements 5to 50
Vehicles and equipment 4t07
Office furniture and equipment 3to4
Infrastructure 10 to 50

Component Unit

Capital assets acquired for use by the component unit are recorded at cost. Donated capital assets are
recorded at fair market value at the date of donation. The component unit’s assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each class of depreciable asset.

(g) Restricted Assets

Restricted assets are comprised of cash and cash equivalents and investments and represent those funds
that are restricted as to use either at the time of receipt, by action of a governing body or by legal
requirement. At December 31, 2003, the County’s restricted assets represent the proceeds of bond
issuances restricted as to their use.

(h) Reserved Fund Balance
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements
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Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for the
expenditure of funds are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the appropriation, is utilized in the
governmental funds. Encumbrances are reported as reservations of fund balances because they do not
constitute expenditures or liabilities for GAAP basis financial statements. Encumbrances will remain in
force and be liquidated under the current year’s budget.

(j) Amortization

In government-wide financial statements, bond premiums are recorded as an addition to the debt
obligation and bond issuance costs are recorded as a deferred charge. Such amounts are amortized using
the interest method or bonds outstanding method over the term of the related revenue bonds.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums, as well as bond issuance
costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources.
Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources. Issuance costs, whether or
not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

(k) Compensated absences

)

Under terms of the County’s personnel policies, employees are granted vacation and sick leave in varying
amounts. County employees are allowed to carry their total accrued vacation leave balance. However, in
the event of termination, County employees are only paid for accrued vacation leave up to a maximum of
two times their annual accrual of vacation leave. Employees are not paid for accumulated sick leave upon
termination. The vacation earned by County employees, subject to the aforementioned maximum, has
been recorded as a long-term liability in the government-wide financial statements. A liability for
compensated absences is recorded within the fund financial statements only to the extent that this liability
has matured.

Interfund Transactions
In the fund financial statements, the County has the following types of transactions among funds:
Transfers

Legally authorized transfers are reported when incurred as “transfers in” by the recipient fund and as
“transfers out” by the disbursing fund.
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Interfund Services Provided/Used

Charges for services rendered by one fund for another are recognized as revenues (interfund services
provided) of the recipient fund and expenditures or expenses (interfund services used) of the disbursing
fund. These transactions are recorded as interfund services because they would be treated as revenues
and expenditures or expenses if they involved organizations external to the County.

(m) Statement of Cash Flows

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash and all
highly liquid investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months or less at the date
of purchase.

(n) Use of Estimates

The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the basic financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, and expenditures during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(0) Accounting Changes

Effective January 1, 2003, the County adopted GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements —
and Management Discussion and Analysis — For State and Local Governments (GASB No. 34), GASB
Statement No. 37, Basic Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for State and
Local Governments: Omnibus (GASB No. 37), GASB Statement No. 38, Certain Financial Statement
Note Disclosures (GASB No. 38) and GASB Interpretation No. 6, Recognition and Measurement of
Certain Liabilities and Expenditures in Governmental Fund Financial Statements. These statements
represent a significant change in the financial reporting model used by state and local governments.

GASB No. 34 requires government-wide financial statements to be prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting. Government-wide financial statements do not provide information by fund or account group,
but distinguish between the County’s governmental activities, business-type activities (if applicable), and
activities of its discretely presented component unit on the statement of net assets and statement of
activities. Additionally, the County’s statement of net assets includes capital assets and long-term
liabilities of the County, which were previously recorded in the general fixed assets account group and the
general long-term debt account group, respectively. In addition to the capital assets previously recorded in
the general fixed assets account group, the County now capitalizes infrastructure assets. Pursuant to the
transition provisions of GASB No. 34, the County has elected to defer the reporting of infrastructure
acquired or constructed prior to January 1, 2003, until future years. In addition, the government-wide
statement of activities reflects depreciation expense on the County’s capital assets, including
infrastructure.
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In addition to the government-wide financial statements the County has prepared fund financial
statements, which continue to use the modified accrual basis of accounting for the County’s general fund,
road and bridge fund, health department capital projects fund, and other nonmajor governmental funds,
which is similar to that previously presented for these funds in the County’s financial statements, although
the format of financial statements has been modified by GASB No. 34. Agency fund financial statements
continue to be presented on the accrual basis of accounting. Additionally, the proprietary funds and
pension trust fund financial statements continue to apply the accrual basis of accounting and focus on the
determination of net income and capital maintenance. The County also now presents two private purpose
trust funds, which account for the assets of the George Spencer Trust Fund and the Union Cemetery Trust
Fund. Prior to the adoption of GASB No. 34, the County recorded these assets within its agency funds.

GASB No. 34 also includes, as required supplementary information, Management’s Discussion and
Analysis, which provides an analytical overview of the County’s financial activities. In addition, a
budgetary comparison schedule is presented that compares the original and final revised budgets for the
General Fund and Road and Bridge Fund with actual results.

GASB No. 38 requires certain disclosures to be made in the notes to the basic financial statements
concurrent with the implementation of GASB No. 34. While this statement did not affect amounts
reported in the basic financial statements of the County, certain note disclosures have been added and
amended including descriptions of activities of major funds, future debt service and lease obligations in
five year increments, short-term obligations, and interfund balances and transactions.

These GASB statements had a significant effect on the County’s financial reporting model. All GASB
statements were retroactively applied to January 1, 2003. A reconciliation of fund equity at December 31,
2002 to net assets of governmental activities as of January 1, 2003 is as follows:

General Fund $ 9,277,877
Special Revenue Funds 6,412,202
Debt Service Fund 872,077
Capital Projects Fund 1,097,591
Internal Service Fund 1,212,519
Total fund equity, December 31, 2002 $ 18,872,266

Required GASB 34 adjustments:

Capital assets, net accumulated depreciation $ 33,042,976
Long-term and other liabilities {4,345,431)
Revenue and asset recognition 948,286
Total net assets, January 1, 2003 $ 48,518,097
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(2) Individual Fund Deficits

At December 31, 2003, the Special Revenue — Neighborhood Improvement Districts fund accumulated deficit
of $70,420 is the result of expenditures exceeding assessment revenue in 2003. The deficit will be offset by
future assessment revenue.

(3) Cash and Investments
Primary Government

The County’s investment policies are governed by County Commission Order, state statutes, and management
policies. County monies are deposited in FDIC-insured banks located within the state.

The County is authorized to invest in the following:

United States Treasury Securities;

United States Agency Securities, including coupon and zero coupon securities, discount notes, callable
securities, step-up securities, floating rate securities, and mortgage backed securities;

Repurchase agreements;

Collateralized Public Deposits (certificates of deposit);

Banker’s Acceptance; and

Commercial Paper.

S

-0 a0

At year end the balance of cash and cash equivalents included property tax payments received by the County
Collector at year end and deposited after year end. At December 31, 2003, the carrying amount of cash
deposits was $22,644,532 and the bank balances totaled $7,952,269. Of the bank balance, $100,000 was
insured by the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC), and $7,852,269 was covered by collateral

held by the pledging bank’s trust department or agent in the pledging bank’s name.

Collateral is required for demand deposits and certificates of deposit. The market value of the collateral must
equal at least 100% of deposits not covered by federal deposit insurance. Obligations that may be pledged as
collateral are of the same type in which the County may invest. Obligations pledged to secure deposits are
delivered to the bank’s joint-custody account at the Federal Reserve Bank.

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 3, the County’s
investments at year end are categorized below to give an indication of the level of custodial credit risk
assumed by the County. The investments of the County are categorized as either: (1) insured or registered,
with securities held by the County or its agent in the County’s name; (2) uninsured and unregistered, with
securities held by the counterparty’s trust department or agent in the County’s name; or (3) uninsured and
unregistered with securities held by the counterparty or their trust departments or agents but not in the
County’s name.
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Total
Category Carrying
1 2 3 Value
U.S. Government and agency
securities $ 86,271,117 — — 86,271,117
$ 86.271.117 — — 86,271,117
Money market mutual funds 4,071,007
Pension trust fund investments —
Money market mutual funds 689,707
Investment contract agreements 72,254
Total investments — primary government $ 91.104.085

The following is a reconciliation of the County’s deposit and investment balances of December 31, 2003 for
the primary government:

Cash and Cash Restricted

Equivalents Investments Assets Total
Cash deposits $ 22,644,532 _— — 22,644,532
Investments 87,033,078 4,071,007 91,104,085
$ 22,644,532 87,033,078 4,071,007 113,748,617

Fiduciary Funds
Government-wide Statement
Statement of Fiduciary
of Net Assets Net Assets Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 398,717 22,245,815 22,644,532

Investments , 14,167,088 72,865,990 87,033,078

Restricted assets 4,071,007 — 4,071,007

$ 18,636,812 95,111,805 113,748,617
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Component Unit

State statutes and the component unit investment policies are the same as for the primary government. The
investments of the Trustees are categorized as follows:

Total
Category Carrying
1 2 3 Value
U.S. Government and agency
securities $ 42,016,091 — — 42,016,091
Repurchase agreements — 5,317,684 e 5,317,684
Marketable equity securities 228,125 — 228,125
$ 42244216 5.317.684 — 47,561,900
Total cash equivalents
and investments — component unit $ 47,561,900

(4) Property Tax

The County’s property tax is levied by September 20 of each year based on the assessed value listed for all
property located in the County and appropriate taxing districts as of January 1 of that year. Property taxes are
due by December 31, following the levy date. Taxes become delinquent if not paid by February 28 and a lien
is placed on the property as of March 1 if the delinquent taxes are not paid. Assessed values are established
by the County Assessor, subject to review by the Board of Equalization.

Property taxes levied for 2003, which are intended to finance the budgeted year of 2003, are recorded as
receivables, net of estimated uncollectibles. Property taxes that have been billed and are expected to be
collected before March 1 of the subsequent year are recognized as revenues in the current year within the
governmental fund financial statements. Property taxes expected to be collected after March 1 have been
recorded as property taxes receivable and deferred revenue within the governmental fund financial statements.
All property taxes billed are recognized as revenue on the government-wide statements, regardless of when
they are expected to be collected.
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The County is permitted by Missouri State statutes to levy taxes for various purposes. The following
schedule presents the maximum allowable County-wide tax levies and the County’s actual levy for 2003:

Per $100 of Assessed Valuation
Maximum Levy

Allowed by County’s Levy
Purpose Law (a) 2003

General, other than payment of principal and interest on long termdebt  $  0.33 0.13
Road and bridge (excluding special road districts) 0.28 0.05
Boone County Hospital 0.14 —
Group Homes 0.12 0.12
Combined County-wide tax rate (noncommercial and commercial) $ 0.30
County-wide surtax on commercial property (Class III) 0.61 $ 0.61

(a) Missouri State statutes require the County to reduce its property tax levy (levies) in an amount sufficient
to decrease the total property taxes it expects to collect in a year by not less than 50% of the amount of
general revenue sales taxes received by the County.

In addition to the tax levies described above, various independent taxing districts within the County, including
school, city, library, fire, special road and levee districts, levy a tax which is collected by the County
Collector. The property tax collections resulting from these levies are disbursed by the County to the
appropriate taxing districts.

(5) Intergovernmental Revenue and Receivables

Intergovernmental revenue for governmental funds for fiscal year 2003 consisted of the following:

Road and Other Govern-
General Fund Bridge Fund mental Funds
Federal $ 855,366 206,228 238,590
State 1,328,870 1,374,425 289,197
Local 112,405 — 25,100
Total intergovernmental
revenue $ 2,296,641 1,580,653 552,887
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Within the fund financial statements, amounts due from other governments at December 31, 2003 include the
following:

Road and Other Govern-
General Fund Bridge Fund mental Funds
Federal $ 132,791 _ 252,045
State 236,655 252,971
Local 22,745 6,870
Total intergovernmental
receivables $ 392,191 252,971 258,915

(6) Interfund Balances

Interfund receivable and payable balances at December 31, 2003 were as follows:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount
General Fund Other Governmental Funds — Nonmajor $ 130,019
130,019

Road and Bridge Fund General Fund 4,508
Other Governmental Funds — Nonmajor 3,996

Internal Service Fund 11,652

20,156

Other Governmental

Funds — Nonmajor General Fund 131
Other Governmental Funds — Nonmajor 22

153

$ 150,328

All of these interfund balances are due to timing differences, and are expected to be repaid during the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2004.

Loans receivable and payable between funds at December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount
General Fund Other Governmental Funds — Nonmajor $ 3,015
$ 3,015
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(7) Interfund Transfers

Transfers between funds of the County for the year ended December 31, 2003 were as follows:

Transfers To Transfers From Amount
General Fund Other Governmental Funds — Nonmajor $ 7,652
7,652

Health Department Capital
Projects Fund Other Governmental Funds — Nonmajor 110,000
110,000

Other Governmental
Funds — Nonmajor Other Governmental Funds — Nonmajor 113,000
113,000
$ 230,652

Interfund transfers were used to move revenues from the fund that ordinance or budget requires to collect
them to the fund that ordiance or budget requires to expend them.
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Primary Government

The following is a summary of changes in capital assets for the year ended December 31, 2003:

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Works of art
Total capital assets not being
depreciated

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles and equipment
Office furniture and equipment
Infrastructure

Total capital assets being
depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles and equipment
Office furniture and equipment
Infrastructure

Total accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets being
depreciated, net

Capital assets, net

December 31, 2003

Balance Balance
January 1, December 31,
2003 Additions Deletions 2003
4,526,403 124,112 _ 4,650,515
48,508 2,179,492 —_ 2,228,000
120,228 — — 120,228
4,695,139 2,303,604 — 6,998,743
28,403,233 533,303 —_ 28,936,536
7,380,224 1,714,791 772,846 8,322,169
3,077,872 190,989 532,129 2,736,732
—_ 1,099,478 — 1,099,478
38,861,329 3,538,561 1,304,975 41,094,915
4,156,431 507,251 — 4,663,682
3,715,133 689,701 571,573 3,833,261
2,641,928 355,084 532,129 2,464,883
34,982 — 34,982
10,513,492 1,587,018 1,103,702 10,996,808
28,347,837 1,951,543 201,273 30,098,107
33,042,976 4,255,147 201,273 37,096,850

Construction in progress consists primarily of the City/County Health Facility and the JJC expansion and

renovation.
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Within the statement of activities, depreciation expense is charged to the functions of the primary government

as follows:

Policy and administration

Law enforcement and judicial

Environment, public buildings, and infrastructure
Protective inspection

Component Unit

$ 502,190
561,166
507,220

16,442

$ 1,587,018

The following is a summary of the component unit capital assets at December 31, 2003:

®

Land and land improvements $ 13,170,603
Buildings 76,078,546
Fixed equipment 1,966,397
Major moveable equipment 18,772,504
Construction in progress 4,965,668

114,953,718

Less accumulated depreciation (71,650,543)

$ 43,303,175

Long Term Liabilities

Primary Government

Following is a summary of the changes in long term debt liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2003:

Special obligation bonds payable
Note payable

Capital leases

Unamortized premiums

Accrued compensated absences

Balance Balance Due
January 1, December 31, Within One
2003 Additions Deletions 2003 Year
General obligation bonds payable $ 1,125,000 — (166,000) 959,000 174,000

2,180,000 5,240,000 (2,180,000) 5,240,000 310,000
300,000 — (300,000) — —
104,673 — (32,609) 72,064 35,610
—_ 87,594 (2,920) 84,674 5,840
628,670 697,007 (642,994) 682,683 —
$ 4,338,343 6,024,601 (3,324,523) 7,038,421 525,450
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General obligation bonds
General obligation bonds at December 31, 2003 are composed of special assessment debt as follows:

$255,000 — 1994 general obligation neighborhood improvement bonds due in annual

installments of $30,000 to $35,000 through 2005; interest at 5.8% to 5.9% $ 65,000

$300,000 — 1996 general obligation neighborhood improvement bonds due in annual

installments of $15,000 to $40,000 through 2006; interest at 4.8% to 5.1% 70,000

$355,000 — 1998 general obligation neighborhood improvement bonds due in annual

installments of $35,000 to $45,000 through 2008; interest at 4.15% to 4.45% 195,000

$280,000 — 2000A general obligation neighborhood improvement bonds due in

annual installments of $25,000 to $35,000 through 2010; interest at 5.00% to 5.35% 210,000

$184,000 — 2000B general obligation neighborhood improvement bonds due in

annual installments of $16,000 to $23,000 through 2010; interest at 5.2% 139,000

$305,000 — 2001 general obligation neighborhood improvement bonds due in annual

installments of $25,000 to $37,000 through 2012; interest at 2.35% to 4.1% 280,000
Total general obligation bonds $ 959,000

The annual debt service requirements for the above general obligation bonds are as follows:

Year ending December 31 Principal Interest Total

2004 $ 174,000 40,005 214,005
2005 155,000 32,317 187,317
2006 132,000 25,710 157,710
2007 120,000 20,048 140,048
2008 126,000 14,445 140,445
2009-2013 252,000 - 17,587 269,587

Total payments $ 959,000 150,511 1,109,111
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The County is subject to Missouri State statutes which limit the amount of the County’s outstanding bonded
debt (exclusive of revenue bonds and balances available in Debt Service funds) to 10% of the County’s
assessed valuation. At December 31, 2003 the statutory limit for the County was $162,646,345 providing a
debt margin of $162,104,045.

Although the County is generally obligated for their payment, neighborhood improvement bonds are to be
repaid from assessments on properties within the districts. Such assessments are required to be deposited in
debt service funds which are legally restricted for payment of the bonds. The County attaches liens on the
properties within the districts to secure payment of the assessments. As of December 31, 2003, delinquent
assessments receivable amounted to $33,742.

Special Obligation Bonds

On June 1, 2003, the County issued $5,240,000 in Series 2003 special obligation refunding and improvement
bonds with an average interest rate of 3.42%. Proceeds provided funding to renovate portions of certain
existing buildings, and to current refund $1,865,000 of outstanding Series 1993 special obligation
administration building bonds with an average interest rate of 5.37%.

Of the total proceeds of $5,327,594 (after the addition of a premium of $87,594), an amount of $1,898,933
was deposited into an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide for the redemption of the Series 1993
bonds on June 12, 2003. As a result, the Series 1993 bonds have been repaid and the liability for these bonds
has been removed from the financial statements. The current refunding has resulted in an increase in total
debt service payments over the next 15 years by $275,242 and an economic gain (difference between the
present value of the old and new debt service payments) of $92,674.

The annual debt service requirements for the above special obligation bonds are as follows:

Year ending December 31 Principal Interest Total

2004 $ 310,000 182,651 492,651
2005 270,000 150,315 420,315
2006 270,000 144,915 414,915
2007 275,000 139,465 414,465
2008 280,000 133,215 413,215
2009-2013 1,680,000 531,950 2,211,950
2014-2018 2,155,000 243,995 2,398,995

Total payments $ 5,240,000 1,526,506 6,766,506
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Component Unit

The following represents a summary of the Trustees long-term debt for the year ended December 31, 2003:

Balance Balance Due
January 1, Debt Premium Debt December 31, Within
2003 Issued Amortization Retired 2003 One Year
Revenue bonds $ 59,344,203 — (4,679) (31,145,630) 28,193,894 1,800,000

Revenue bonds consist of $29,470,000 in Series 2002 hospital refunding revenue bonds due in annual
installments of $905,000 to $2,205,000 through 2022 with interest at 2.1% to 5.25%, including a premium of
$93,573. The Series 2002 bonds were issued on December 12, 2002, to refund the 1992, 1993, and 2000C
Series bonds (outstanding bonds). The bond proceeds were deposited to an escrow account on December 20,
2002. The principal, redemption, premium, and interest on the outstanding bonds was paid on or prior to
February 1, 2003.

Debt service requirements for the revenue bonds relating to the Hospital are being financed through the
Hospital facilities lease payments, pursuant to and through the terms of the lease agreement with CHAS.

The annual requirements to amortize the above principal are as follows:

Year ending December 31

2004 $ 1,800,000
2005 1,885,000
2006 1,980,000
2007 1,970,000
2008 2,080,000
Thereafter 18,478,894

Total debt $ 28,193,894

(10) Capital Leases
The County has a lease agreement for postage equipment. Because the lease agreement qualifies as a capital

lease for accounting purposes, it was recorded at the inception date as a liability at the present value of the
future minimum lease payments.
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The following is a schedule, by years, of the future minimum lease payments together with the present value
of the net minimum payments as of December 31, 2003:

Year ending December 31:

2004 $ 40,430
2005 38,028
Total payments 78,458
Amount representing interest (6,394)
Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 72,064

(11) Operating Lease

Effective January 2001, the County and the Trustees entered into an amended and restated lease agreement
with CHAS whereby CHAS leases real property and equipment of the Hospital for the purpose of providing
health care services in Boone County and surrounding areas. The initial term of the lease is through
December 31, 2010, subject to certain early termination provisions, after five years. The lease has a renewal
option exercisable by CHAS for one additional five year period, beyond the initial ten year term. The
modified lease calls for annual payments from hospital revenues, to the extent sufficient, as follows:

1. Payments to the Trustees equal to annual bond debt service payments, including principal and
interest for all obligations incurred for hospital related facilities and equipment;

2. Payments to the County of $1,350,000 annually, due and payable in four quarterly payments of
$337,500, as adjusted by the Consumer Price Index; and

3. Payments to the Trustees annually equal to fifty percent of the year’s increase in cash and cash
equivalents of the Hospital. Under the same terms of the agreement, the Trustees are
responsible for fifty percent of any reduction in cash and cash equivalent balances during a
fiscal year, and therefore may under those conditions be required to make payments to the
Hospital.

The restated lease agreement also includes minimum capital expenditure requirements, certain lessee and
lessor operational covenants and governance and control clauses.
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(12) Employee Benefit Plans
Primary Government
a. Boone County Matching Pension Plan

The Boone County Matching Pension Plan (the Plan) is a defined contribution plan under Internal Revenue
Code (IRC) Section 401 (a). The Plan was adopted by Order of the County Commission on March 16, 1999,
with an effective date of May 1, 1999. The County Commission has the authority to amend the Plan. All
employees who are in “benefited” positions are eligible to participate. As of December 31, 2003, 250
employees were participating in the Plan. The County makes contributions equal to participating employees’
contributions to the County’s IRC Section 457 deferred compensation plan, with County contributions limited
to $25 per bi-weekly pay period per participant. These matching contributions are invested as directed by
participants in a variety of registered investment company funds. The County’s matching contributions for
2003 were $157,424. For financial reporting purposes, the activity of the Plan is accounted for within the
pension trust fund of the County.

b. Statewide County Employee Retirement Fund

In August 1994, the Missouri State Legislature passed RSMo Sections 50.100 through 50.306 creating a
Statewide County Employee Retirement Fund (CERF). The cost-sharing multi-employer defined benefit plan
is funded through various fees and employee contributions. The CERF is administered by a governing board
of directors. Complete financial statements of the CERF can be obtained from its administrative offices:

County Employee Retirement Fund
c/o Brydon, Searingen, and England
312 East Capitol

Jefferson City, Missouri 65102

As established by statute, all full-time employees and certain part-time employees of the County are eligible
to participate in the CERF. Employees attaining the age of sixty-two years may retire with full benefits with
eight or more years of creditable service. Benefit provisions are fixed by state statute and may be amended
only by action of the Missouri Legislature.

Upon termination of employment, any member who is vested is entitled to a deferred annuity, payable at age
sixty-two. Early retirement at age fifty-five with reduced benefit is allowed. Any member with less than
eight years of creditable service forfeits all rights in the fund but will be paid his or her accumulated

B e o Ty
COULIULIDUUIULLD.

In accordance with State statutes, the Plan is funded through various fees collected by counties and remitted
to the CERF. All participating employees hired before February 25, 2002 are required to make contributions
equal to 2% of gross compensation. Effective January 1, 2003, participating employees hired on or after
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February 25, 2002 are required to make contributions equal to 6% of gross compensation. While the County
is not required to make any contributions to the plan, the County has elected to contribute 4% of the required
6% contribution for employees hired between February 25, 2002 and January 1, 2003. During 2003, the
County collected and remitted to CERF employee contributions of $288,295, employer contributions of
$43,084 and statutory charges of $639,744.

c. Deferred Compensation Plan

The County offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with IRC Section 457.
The deferred compensation plan, available to all County employees, permits them to defer a portion of their
salary until future years. The deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination,
retirement, death or unforeseeable emergency.

All amounts of compensation deferred under the plan, all property and rights purchased with those amounts,
and all income attributable to those amounts, property or rights are (until paid or made available to the
employees or other beneficiary) held in trust for the exclusive benefit of employees. As the County does not
have fiduciary responsibility for these assets, the trust account and related liability are not included in the
accompanying basic financial statements.

Component Unit

Effective September 1, 1988, a noncontributory, defined benefit pension plan was created to duplicate, where
allowable, those benefits previously provided by the Hospital’s plan prior to inception of the lease discussed
in Note 11. The Plan (CHAS Plan) is administered by CHAS has assumed the benefit obligations for active
Hospital employees. The Trustees’ administered Plan (Trustees’ Plan) continued to assume the benefit
obligations of existing retirees and vested terminations at the lease inception date.

During 1989, the Trustees’ Plan made lump-sum payments and purchased annuities to satisfy any remaining

retirees and vested terminations. The market value of assets remaining after such payment is approximately
$73,000 at December 31, 2003.
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(13) Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
Litigation

The County is a defendant in a number of claims and lawsuits. The County Counselor has reviewed these
claims and lawsuits in order to evaluate the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome to the County and arrive at
an estimate, if any, of the amount or range of potential loss to the County. The County Counselor has
indicated that the resolution of any lawsuits pending are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the
basic financial statements of the County. No amount has been provided in the December 31, 2003 basic
financial statements for any such claims and lawsuits.

General Obligation Bonds

In 1992, County voters approved a $3.5 million general obligation bond issue for the purpose of financing the
construction and repair of roads and streets within the County’s neighborhood improvement districts.
Property taxes will not be levied for debt service on the bonds; instead, property owners within these districts
will repay the bonds through annual billings over a period not to exceed ten years. As of December 31, 2003,
$1,399,000 of the bonds have been issued.

In 1997, County voters approved a $5.5 million general obligation bond issue for the purpose of financing the
construction and repair of sewers within the County’s neighborhood improvement districts. Property taxes
will not be levied for debt service on the bonds; instead, property owners within these districts will repay the
bonds through annual billings over a period not to exceed ten years. As of December 31, 2003, $280,000 of
the bonds have been issued.

Component Unit

The Trustees lease approximately 6 acres of property under two separate 52 year ground leases to the Graham
Group, Inc., which has constructed medical buildings on the property. The leases expire in August 2045 and
May 2050 and include a 25 year renewal option. Annual rent of $69,076 and $91,556, respectively, is
payable to the Trustees monthly and is adjusted based on Consumer Price Index changes, subject to certain
limitations.

The Trustees have agreed to assume a lease of office space from the Graham Group, Inc. for which CHAS is
currently the lessee, should the lease agreement between CHAS and the Trustees be terminated. The office
space lease, which is for a period of twenty-five years terminating November 30, 2019, require payments of
$19,583 monthly through December 1, 2001, adjustable thereafter based on Consumer Price Index changes,
subject to certain limitations.

The Trustees entered into contracts for the construction of a south addition and various renovations and
additions to outpatient, surgical and administrative areas of the hospital. Remaining commitments for these
contracts totaled approximately $11.6 million at December 31, 2003.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

December 31, 2003

(14) Risk Management

The County maintains broad form insurance coverage for property/casualty, general liability, worker’s
compensation, inland marine, EDP, public officials’ errors and omissions, law enforcement errors and
omission, and boiler and machinery. The County is a member of the Mid-American Regional Council
Insurance Trust (MARCIT), a public entity risk retention pool, and shares a full-time risk manager through
that organization. The Board of Directors includes eleven member representatives. MARCIT has the right to
assess members additional premiums to cover deficiencies in claim payments and may also issue refunds
when revenues exceed expenses. MARCIT covers risks up to $1,000,000 with deductibles of $5,000; except
for property, inland marine, and EDP which have 100% coverage with deductibles of $5,000; and also
maintains excess insurance agreements in the event of large losses. MARCIT is responsible for claims within
its specified self-insured retention limits prior to the coverage of the excess insurance. Boone County had no
settlements in excess of insurance coverage in any of the past three years. Total premiums paid to MARCIT
by the County in 2003 were $876,137.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

December 31, 2003

Self-Insured Employee Benefits

The County maintains two Internal Service funds to account for its self-insured coverage of County
employees and their dependents for health and dental benefits. Under these self-insurance programs,
coverage is provided up to a maximum of $50,000 and $1,000 for each health and dental claim, respectively.
The County has commercial reinsurance for claims in excess of the health individual claim maximum. No
reinsurance is in place for dental because the County’s plan does not provide for individual claims in excess
of $1,000. The claims liability as reported in the Internal Service funds is based on the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 10 requirements that a liability for claims be recorded if
information prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has
been incurred at the date of the basic financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
estimated. There were no significant changes in coverage during the year. Changes in the internal service
funds claims liability for the past two years are as follows:

2003
Current
Year
Beginning Claims End of
of Year and Year
Claims Changes in Claim Claims
Liability Estimates Payments Liability
Self-insured Health Plan $ 211,738 971,580 (1,016,333) 166,985
Self-insured Dental Plan 7,751 130,121 (128,609) 9,263
Totals $ 219,489 1,101,701 (1,144,942) 176,248
2002
Current
Year
Beginning Claims End of
of Year and Year
Claims Changes in Claim Claims
Liability Estimates Payments Liability
Self-insured Health Plan $ 105,996 1,115,543 (1,009,801) 211,738
Self-insured Dental Plan 4,000 123,995 (120,244) 7,751
Totals $ 109,996 1,239,538 (1,130,045) 219,489
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements

December 31, 2003

(15) New Accounting Pronouncements

GASB Statement No. 39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component Units — an
Amendment of GASB Statement No. 14, modifies the definition of component units for purposes of inclusion
within the County’s reporting entity. This statement will be effective for the County for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2004. Management of the County has not yet completed its assessment of the statement.

GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures — an Amendment of GASB Statement No.
3, modifies existing, and imposes new, disclosure requirements relative to the County’s cash and investments.
This statement will be effective for the County for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2005. Management of
the County has not yet completed its assessment of the statement.

GASB Statement No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for
Insurance Recoveries, establishes accounting and financial reporting standards for impairment of capital
assets, and clarifies and establishes accounting requirements for insurance recoveries. This statement will be
effective for the County’s fiscal year ending December 31, 2005. Management of the County has not yet
completed its assessment of the statement.
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SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND - UNAUDITED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

REVENUES

Property taxes

Sales taxes

Other taxes

Licenses and permits

Intergovernmental

Charges for services

Investment income

Miscellaneous
Hospital lease revenue
Contributions
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Current
Policy and administration
Law enforcement and judicial
Environment, public buildings and
infrastructure
Community health and public services
Economic vitality
Beautification and recreation
Protective inspection
Capital outlay
Debt service
Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges

Total expenditures

REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Proceeds of long-term debt
Premium on long-term debt
Transfers in

Bond redemption

Total other financing sources (uses)

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

FUND BALANCES (GAAP), beginning of year

Less encumbrances, beginning of year
Add encumbrances, end of year

FUND BALANCES (GAAP), end of year

See accompanying independent auditors' report.

BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

Variance with

Final Final Budget
Original Revised Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
2,173,000 2,173,000 2,257,713 84,713
9,363,375 9,363,375 9,834,025 470,650
131,000 131,000 137,206 6,206
417,290 417,290 379,811 (37,479)
2,314,361 2,670,059 2,296,641 (373,418)
2,726,483 2,726,483 3,487,843 761,360
232,561 232,561 84,725 (147,836)
1,385,000 1,385,000 1,404,518 19,518
- - 550 550
372,145 372,145 462,658 90,513
19,115,215 19,470,913 20,345,690 874,777
5,489,480 5,195,674 4,710,075 485,599
11,965,263 12,362,276 11,893,918 468,358
117,706 117,706 99,211 18,495
1,077,134 1,154,201 1,042,239 111,962
66,000 66,000 66,000 -
36,665 36,665 27,291 9,374
790,309 811,695 778,258 33,437
570,505 727,180 517,969 209,211
347,609 347,609 347,609 -
118,631 118,631 58,026 60,605
20,579,302 20,937,637 19,540,596 1,397,041
(1,464,087) (1,466,724) 805,094 2,271,818
- 1,867,272 1,867,272 -
- 31,661 31,661 -
3,576 7,652 7,652 -
- (1,898,933) (1,898,933) -
3,576 7,652 7,652 -
(1,460,511) (1,459,072) 812,746 2,271,818
9,277,877
(93,140)

=0

141,917

10,139,400




BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - ROAD AND BRIDGE FUND - UNAUDITED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Variance with

Final Final Budget
Original Revised Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
Property taxes 3 897,439 897,439 904,852 7,413
Sales taxes 9,848,283 9,848,283 10,296,708 448,425
Licenses and permits - - 18,416 18,416
Intergovernmental 1,638,577 1,638,577 1,580,653 (57,924)
Charges for services 62,000 62,000 78,836 16,836
Investment income 72,135 72,135 23,803 (48,332)
Miscellaneous 1,000 1,000 102,537 101,537
Total revenues 12,519,434 12,519,434 13,005,805 486,371
EXPENDITURES
Current
Environment, public buildings and
infrastructure 11,933,242 11,997,249 11,183,088 814,161
Capital outlay 1,352,485 1,320,971 1,227,481 93,490
Debt service
Principal retirement 300,000 300,000 300,000 -
Interest and fiscal charges 12,000 12,000 9,181 2,819
Total expenditures 13,597,727 13,630,220 12,719,750 910,470
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE $ (1,078,293) (1,110,786) 286,055 1,396,841
FUND BALANCES (GAAP), beginning of year 3,308,378
Less encumbrances, beginning of year (960,643)
Add encumbrances, end of year 1,098,592
FUND BALANCES (GAAP), end of year 3,732,382

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

Notes to Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Budget and Actual — General Fund and Road and Bridge Fund - UNAUDITED

December 31, 2003

(1) Explanation of Budgetary Basis of Accounting

The County’s policy is to prepare the annual operating budget on a basis which includes
encumbrances as the equivalent of expenditures. The statement of revenues, expenditures and
changes in fund balances — governmental funds excludes outstanding encumbrances in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for the
modified accrual basis of accounting. However, budgeted expenditures include both expenditures
and encumbrances (budget basis). Therefore, in order to match reported results (actual) to the
budget and to provide a useful comparison, it is necessary to include encumbrances outstanding at
the end of the year as expenditures and exclude encumbrances outstanding at the beginning of the
year. Unencumbered appropriations lapse at year end.

(2) Explanation of Budgetary Process

The County follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data using the following dates
as targets.

a. July: County Auditor develops and distributes budget guidelines and instructions to each
elected official and department head.

b. September 1: Budget requests are due to County Auditor.

c. September and October: County Auditor reviews budget requests and schedules work
sessions with elected officials and department directors as necessary.

d. November 15: County Auditor delivers Proposed Budget to County Commission.

e. November 15 through December 15: County Commission holds public hearings on the
Proposed Budget.

f. January 10: Statutory deadline for adoption of the budget by the County Commission.
However, in the year the presiding commissioner’s new term of office begins, the statutory

deadline is January 31.

For fiscal year 2003, the County Commission adopted an annual budget for the General Fund, the
Special Revenue funds, the Capital Projects funds, and the Internal Service funds.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

Notes to Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Budget and Actual — General Fund and Road and Bridge Fund - UNAUDITED

December 31, 2003

Budget amendments must be authorized by the County Commission or other appropriating
authority as determined by state statute. Supplemental appropriations are made by the applicable
authority throughout the year. Such supplemental appropriations were insignificant for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2003.

The County Commission approves the annual budget at the fund level; however, the appropriations
at the departmental object (or class) level are closely monitored throughout the year for fluctuations
and any resulting revisions that may be needed. The County also maintains an encumbrance
accounting system as one technique of accomplishing budgetary control.  Unencumbered
appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end, while open encumbrances are reported as reservations of fund
balance at each year-end.
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

The other supplementary information contains data beyond that included in the basic financial statements.
This data is presented to provide additional financial information in order to better inform the users of the
basic financial statements.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

Accrued interest
Accounts receivable
Commissions receivable
Property taxes receivable
Assessments receivable
Sales taxes receivable
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Prepaid items

Restricted assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Wages payable
Accrued liabilities
Due to other funds
Due to others
Deferred revenue
Loans payable to other funds

Total liabilities

Fund balances
Reserved for prepaid items
Reserved for debt service
Reserved for restricted assets
Reserved for encumbrances
Unreserved
Designated for capital improvements
Undesignated

Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

DECEMBER 31, 2003

Total Nonmajor

Special Debt Capital Governmental
Revenue Service Project Funds

$ 160,518 4,072 2,077 166,667
2,887,821 340,492 83,842 3,312,155
13,690 998 361 15,049
82,214 - - 82,214
82,665 - - 82,665

- 71,138 - 71,138

- 665,299 - 665,299

454,327 - - 454,327
153 - - 153
250,963 - 7,952 258,915
220 - - 220

- 524,000 1,631,348 2,155,348
3,932,571 1,605,999 1,725,580 7,264,150
277,047 - 25,670 302,717
69,411 - - 69,411
5,100 - - 5,100
41,339 - 92,698 134,037
20,035 - - 20,035
33,083 665,299 - 698,382
3,015 - - 3,015
449,030 665,299 118,368 1,232,697
220 - - 220

- 940,700 - 940,700

- - 643,186 643,186

397,704 - 881,008 1,278,712
250,000 - - 250,000
2,835,617 - 83,018 2,918,635
3,483,541 940,700 1,607,212 6,031,453
$ 3,932,571 1,605,999 1,725,580 7,264,150

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

REVENUES
Assessments
Sales taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Investment income
Miscellaneous
Contributions
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES

Current
Policy and administration
Law enforcement and judicial
Environment, public buildings and infrastructure
Community health and public services
Interfund services used

Capital outlay

Debt service
Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges

Total expenditures
REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds of long-term debt
Premium on long-term debt
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other financing sources (uses)

REVENUES AND OTHER SOURCES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES

FUND BALANCES, beginning of year
FUND BALANCES, end of year

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

Total Nonmajor

Special Debt Capital Governmental
Revenue Service Project Funds

977 208,564 - 209,541
2,699,289 - - 2,699,289
535,884 - 17,003 552,887
1,226,698 - - 1,226,698
27,284 - - 27,284
61,759 2,702 1,032 65,493
250 - - 250
77,507 - 1,025 78,532
4,629,648 211,266 19,060 4,859,974
889,041 - - 889,041
2,010,967 - - 2,010,967
84,031 - - 84,031
151,647 - - 151,647
44,897 - - 44,897
962,196 - 190,930 1,153,126

- 166,000 - 166,000

- 50,143 - 50,143
4,142,779 216,143 190,930 4,549,852
486,869 (4,877) (171,870) 310,122

- 74,000 1,604,148 1,678,148

- - 27,200 27,200

- - 113,000 113,000
(107,152) (500) (123,000) (230,652)
(107,152) 73,500 1,621,348 1,587,696
379,717 68,623 1,449,478 1,897,818
3,103,824 872,077 157,734 4,133,635
3,483,541 940,700 1,607,212 6,031,453
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific or restricted revenue sources or to
finance specified activities as required by law or administrative regulations.

Special Building Project — Citizen Contribution - To account for citizen contributions towards County
building projects.

Assessment Fund - To account for the operations of the County Assessor's office which includes the cost of
performing a reassessment of all taxable real property as required by Statute 137.750. Financing is provided
by the state and a commission received from property tax collections.

E-911 Emergency Telephone Fund — To account for the collection and disbursement of the 2% tax on land
line local tariffs, authorized in Statute 190.305, which is used to operate the enhanced 911 emergency
telephone system.

Domestic Violence Fund - To account for fees collected under Statute 455.2 to provide shelter for victims of
domestic violence.

Hospital Profit Share Fund - To account for "additional lease compensation" monies received pursuant to the
lease of Boone Hospital Center.

Local Emergency Planning Committee Fund - To account for funds received by the Local Emergency
Planning Committee from the State of Missouri.

Collector Tax Maintenance Fund — To account for the additional delinquent fees and commissions authorized
by Statute 52.312-317. The additional fees supplement the General Fund operating budget for the Collector.

Fairground Maintenance Fund — To account for the maintenance and repair of the Boone County
Fairgrounds. The resources of this fund were derived from the net insurance proceeds resulting from
building damage sustained at the site in fiscal year 2002.

Election Services Fund - To account for charges, not to exceed 5% of total election costs, that is levied to all
entities participating in any election.

Sheriff Forfeiture Fund - To account for fines and forfeitures collected by the Sheriff’s department.

Sheriff Training Fund - To account for fees collected under Statute 590 for providing training for peace
officers.

Public Safety Citizen Contributions Fund - To account for private donations specifically set aside for the
neighborhood watch, Drug Abuse Resistance Education (D.A.R.E.) and the community traffic safety
programs.

Local Law Enforcement Grant Fund - To account for grant funds to be used for local law enforcement.

Sheriff Civil Charges Fund - To account for civil charges collected by the Sheriff.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI
SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS - Continued

Prosecuting Attorney Training Fund - To account for fees collected under Statute 56.765 for the purpose of
providing additional training for prosecuting attorneys and their staff.

Prosecuting Attorney Tax Collection Fund - To account for fees collected under Statute 136.15 for the
Prosecuting Attorney's collection of delinquent taxes, licenses and fees for the State of Missouri.

Prosecuting Attorney Contingency Fund - To account for fees collected under Statute 56.330 for the payment
of incidental expenses incurred in the Prosecuting Attorney's office.

Prosecuting Attorney Bad Check Collection Fund - To account for the revenues and expenditures of the
Prosecuting Attorney for the collection of insufficient funds checks as provided in Statute 570.1. The
Prosecuting Attorney retains a fee based on the amount of the collection recovered.

Prosecuting Attorney Forfeiture Fund - To account for federal drug money collected by the prosecuting
attorney and used for equipment, seminars and meetings.

Record Preservation Fund - To account for fees collected under Statute 59.319 for record storage,
microfilming and preservation.

Family Services and Justice Fund - Accounts for the revenues and expenditures associated with family court.
In 1993, the state legislature passed legislation that created a family court in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit.
The law provides for the collection of a $30 fee per each family court case which is deposited into this fund.

Circuit Drug Court Fund - To account for fees received from defendants who participate in the Drug Court
program.

Administration of Justice Fund - To account for late fees collected pursuant to RSMo 488.5025.1-2 to be
used for the general administration of justice.

Law Enforcement Sales Tax Fund - To account for the revenues and expenditures associated with a 1/8 cent
sales tax for law enforcement and judicial activities.

Neighborhood Improvement Districts Fund - To account for the revenue and expenditures of construction and
repair of roads in Neighborhood Improvement Districts (NIDs).

Law Library Fund - To account for fees collected under Statute 514.47 and 514.48 for the maintenance and
upkeep of a law library.

Family Preservation Fund - To account for the revenues and expenditures under the Family Preservation
Services program which is funded by a contract with the Department of Social Services/Division of Family
Services. The program is administered by the Juvenile Court Services of the Thirteenth Judicial Court.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

SPECIAL BUILDING PROJECT - CITIZEN CONTRIBUTION FUND - NONMAJOR FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGET BASIS)
UNAUDITED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Variance with

Final Final Budget
Revised Positive
Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
Investment income $ - 16 16
Miscellaneous
Other 7,500 6,250 (1,250)
Total revenues 7,500 6,266 (1,234)
EXPENDITURES
Supplies, services and other charges 5,600 162 5,438
Total expenditures 5,600 162 5,438
REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES b 1,900 6,104 4,204
FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
beginning of year -
FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
end of year 6,104

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

ASSESSMENT FUND - NONMAJOR FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGET BASIS)
UNAUDITED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Variance with

Final Final Budget
Revised Positive
Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
Intergovernmental $ 297875 270,795 (27,080)
Charges for services 513,850 541,365 27,515
Investment income 7,500 4343 (3,157)
Miscellaneous 12,000 23,836 11,836
Total revenues 831,225 840,339 9,114
EXPENDITURES
Personal services 679,940 575,995 103,945
Supplies, other services and charges 249,110 108,786 140,324
Capital outlay 18,650 16,616 2,034
Total expenditures 947,700 701,397 246,303
REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES b (116,475) 138,942 255,417
FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
beginning of year 672,251
Less encumbrances,
beginning of year (4,2106)
FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
end of year 806,977

See accompanying independent auditor's report.



BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

E-911 EMERGENCY TELEPHONE FUND - NONMAJOR FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGET BASIS)
UNAUDITED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Variance with

Final Final Budget
Revised Positive
Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
Sales taxes $ 300,000 268,354 (31,646)
Investment income 8,800 6,748 (2,052)
Total revenues 308,800 275,102 (33,698)
EXPENDITURES
Supplies, services and other charges 262,800 231,649 31,151
Capital outlay 212,500 215,546 (3,046)
Total expenditures 475,300 447195 28,105
REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES $ (166,500) (172,093) (5,593)
FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
beginning of year 582,652
Add encumbrances,
end of year 53,167
FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
end of year 463,726

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE FUND - NONMAJOR FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGET BASIS)
UNAUDITED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Variance with

Final Final Budget
Revised Positive
Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
Charges for services $ 35,200 31,566 (3,634)
Investment income 165 17 (148)
Total revenues 35,365 31,583 (3,782)
EXPENDITURES
Supplies, other services and charges 35,365 32,901 2,464
Total expenditures 35,365 32,901 2,464
REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES $ - (1,318) (1,318)
FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
beginning of year 18,260
FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
end of year 16,942

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

HOSPITAL PROFIT SHARE FUND - NONMAJOR FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGET BASIS)

REVENUES

Investment income

Miscellaneous
Other

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Supplies, services and other charges

Total expenditures

REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out

REVENUES AND OTHER SOURCES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES
AND OTHER USES

FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
beginning of year

Less encumbrances,
beginning of year

FUND BALANCE (GAAP),

end of year

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

UNAUDITED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Variance with

Final Final Budget
Revised Positive
Budget Actual (Negative)

24,446 22,620 (1,826)
41,718 41,717 (1)
66,164 64,337 (1,827)
94,500 93,590 910
94,500 93,590 910
(28,336) (29,253) 917)
(100,000) (100,000) -
(128,336) (129,253) 917)
249,559
(10,000)
110,306
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

LOCAL EMERGENCY PLANNING COMMITTEE FUND - NONMAJOR FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGET BASIS)
UNAUDITED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Variance with

Final Final Budget
Revised Positive
Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
Intergovernmental $ 6,000 10,397 4,397
Investment income 330 252 (78)
Total revenues 6,330 10,649 4,319
EXPENDITURES
Supplies, services and other charges 13,400 11,841 1,559
Capital outlay 2,496 2,358 138
Total expenditures 15,896 14,199 1,697
REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES $ (9,566) (3,550) 6,016
FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
beginning of year 19,708
FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
end of year 16,158

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

COLLECTOR TAX MAINTENANCE FUND - NONMAJOR FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGET BASIS)

REVENUES
Charges for services
Investment income

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Supplies, other services and charges

Capital outlay

Total expenditures

REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES

FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
beginning of year

FUND BALANCE (GAAP),

end of year

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

UNAUDITED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Variance with

Final Final Budget
Revised Positive
Budget Actual (Negative)

124,000 116,026 (7,974)
- 1,176 1,176
124,000 117,202 (6,798)
114,846 49,678 65,168
9,319 9,025 294
124,165 58,703 65,462
(165) 58,499 (72,260)
59,814
118,313
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

FAIRGROUND MAINTENANCE FUND - NONMAJOR FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGET BASIS)
UNAUDITED
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Variance with

Final Final Budget
Revised Positive
Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
Intergovernmental $ 196,636 173,502 (23,134)
Investment income - 9,341 9,341
Total revenues 196,636 182,843 (13,793)
EXPENDITURES
Supplies, services and other charges 23,150 13,337 9,813
Capital outlay 300,000 280,180 19,820
Total expenditures 323,150 293,517 29,633
REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES $ (126,514) (110,674) 15,840
FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
beginning of year 481,775
FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
end of year 371,101

See accompanying independent auditor's report.



BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

ELECTION SERVICES FUND - NONMAJOR FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (BUDGET BASIS)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

REVENUES
Charges for services
Investment income

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Supplies, services and other charges
Capital outlay

Total expenditures

REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES

FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
beginning of year

FUND BALANCE (GAAP),
end of year

UNAUDITED

Variance with

Final Final Budget
Revised Positive
Budget Actual (Negative)
$ 4,500 10,868 6,368
- 784 784
4,500 11,652 7,152
9,200 4,743 4,457
3,000 - 3,000
12,200 4,743 7,457
h (7,700) 6,909 14,609
53,549
60,458

See accompanying independent auditor's report.
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BOONE COUNTY, MISSOURI

SHERIFF FORFEITURE<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>